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Meanwhile, government bonds have been characterised by rising rates in the US versus political uncertainty elsewhere.

The significant 3% yield level on the US treasuries was broken in September; caused mainly by strong US growth, 
wage inflation, rate hikes and a seemingly more hawkish Federal Reserve chair which all contributed to persistent 
upward pressure on yields. It remained above that level until early-December 2018 when risk aversion returned. 

In Europe, the key stories were the slowdown in economic growth and the victory for populist parties in Italy, which 
subsequently formed a coalition government. In the United Kingdom, the UK Gilt yields rose from 1.19% to 1.37%. The 
overall driver was above-target inflation, a consequence of weak sterling following the Brexit referendum coupled 
with expectations of interest rate hikes.

What are the investors going to face in the 2019? Signals of a recession in the coming next 18 months were highlighted 
by the inverted US yield curve, which has always been a good indicator of recessions to come. 

In particular, investors should pay attention to the timing of the yield curve inverts that occurred in the first week of 
December 2018. US economy data indicate that the economy is running very close to full capacity.

On the other hand, 2019 will be seen as a very challenging year for the eurozone with the European Parliament 
elections, the probable end of the Quantitative Easing programme by the European Central Bank and the elections in 
November for the new ECB President. 

The past 12 months has been a year of change at GlobalCapital. A more stringent regulatory environment and the 
need for a more efficient organisation required structural changes which have positively impacted the governance 
and management of each of the Group’s companies. We have rightfully moved away from centralisation and set 
up dedicated management and supervisory bodies for each of the three regulated companies: GlobalCapital Life 
Insurance, GlobalCapital Health Insurance Agency and GlobalCapital Financial Management. Each company is now 
run by its own Managing Director, with dedicated staff and governance bodies. As a consequence, the position of 
group CEO has been eliminated. 

The restructuring exercise paid particular emphasis to the investment process and to the matching of assets and 
liabilities in the insurance portfolio. The result has been positive both in terms of risk reduction and  performance. The 
overall return on financial investments was in fact positive, in spite of negative performance in the markets, both in 
Malta and internationally.

Substantial resources were invested in GlobalCapital Financial Management to improve fund administration, fund 
management and the compliance department and to bring them in line with the updated regulations. The operating 
software was replaced and the data migrated to the new system. All of these changes took place while implementing 
various directives that came into force last year, notably the General Data Protection Regulation and the Insurance 
Distribution Directive.

GlobalCapital Health Insurance Agency was also forced to implement major changes because of Brexit. Bupa, in 
particular, had to activate a strategy to ensure that health insurance policies could continue to be issued in Malta in 
the event that the UK and EU fail to agree on the extension of passporting rights for insurance products.
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The past year has been marked by economic and political uncertainty, which affected the global investment markets 
and resulted in negative returns across all asset classes.

After two years of steady growth in asset prices, 2018 saw a notable slowdown, particularly in the last quarter. 

US president Donald Trump’s tax cuts provided an added boost for investors heading into 2018, and US GDP growth 
accelerated to 4.2% on an annualised quarterly basis in the second quarter. However, economic growth elsewhere, 
notably in the eurozone, decelerated and global growth became less synchronised.

The escalation of the US-China trade conflict has compounded matters as reduced monetary stimulus and concerns 
over the world economy eventually took their toll on investor confidence. In the UK, the prolonged and fraught 
process of negotiating Britain’s exit from the European Union has weighed down economic growth.

Poor performance across the globe can be attributed primarily  to the rise in interest rates and tightening of monetary 
policy. This had an impact on company profits as volatility increased on the markets.

The regulatory environment also continues to evolve, requiring businesse to adapt and, in some cases, modify past 
practices. The shifting external environment, coupled with highly competitive markets, has given rise to a challenging 
macro-environment.

In the last three months of 2018, the fall in the MSCI World Index represented the worst quarterly performance in 
seven years. US and Japanese stocks have been particularly sluggish among the five major stock markets worldwide.

Chairman’s Review 
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Board Members
Prof Paolo Catalfamo

Paolo Catalfamo is Founder and Chairman of the financial group Investar, based in Malta, Luxembourg, Switzerland 
and the US, and Adjunct Professor at the Villanova School of Business in Philadelphia. He serves as Chairman of Global 
Capital plc, a financial conglomerate listed on the Malta Stock Exchange. He is also Chairman of Global Capital Life 
Insurance ltd, Chairman of Global Capital Health Insurance ltd and Chairman of Global Capital Financial Management 
ltd, all regulated by the Malta Financial Services Authority. He’s a Board Member of Centtrip Ltd, a London based 
fintech company regulated by the UK Financial Conduct Authority. He’s also the Founder and Chairman of Palladium 
plc, a blockchain financial services company. He is a Board Member of the National Italian American Foundation in 
Washington D.C. (the association which represents the 26 million Italian-Americans) and Chairman of NIAF Italia. He 
has been the Chairman of the Advisory Board of the American University of Rome, Board Member of the Advisory 
Board of the Villanova School of Business in Philadelphia and Board Member of the Advisory Board of Bocconi 
University in Milan. From 1991 to 2010 he has been teaching Economics of International Financial Intermediaries at 
Bocconi University, the University of Turin, the University of Miami and the Florida Atlantic University. In 2008 he 
advised the CNEL (the Italian Parliament think tank) on foreign investments attraction. He has been President of 
the American Chamber of Commerce in Italy and Chairman of the Italy- America Chamber of Commerce in Miami. 
From 1994 to 2000 he served as Founder, Deputy Chairman and CEO for Italy of Franklin Templeton, the world 
third largest independent asset management group.  In 2000, he founded Investar SGR and Invesclub SGR, two 
asset management companies regulated by the Bank of Italy, which launch and manage mutual, private equity and 
hedge funds. In 1992 he was Founder and President of Cruise Finance in Miami, the leading arranger of financing to 
the cruise industry. He has published several pieces including “Marketing investment funds in Europe” (1997), “The 
evolution of finance in the Emerging Markets”(1997), “The management of Pension Funds in Italy”(1996),”The Italian 
Ship Financing”(1993), “The creation of an off-shore financial centre in an evolving market: Mauritius financial platform 
for Africa and the Indian Ocean(1988). His articles are published on the Wall Street Journal, the Financial Times, Il Sole 
24 Ore, MF Milano Finanza. He is a frequent guest of CNBC, Bloomberg Television, RAI and other television and radio 
networks. Professor Catalfamo holds a Master Degree in Economic and Social Sciences (DES) from Bocconi University 
in Milano, with a major in International Finance.

Mr Joseph C Schembri

Mr Schembri is a consultant with Baker Tilly Sant. Mr Schembri is a certified public accountant and auditor. He was 
an audit partner of Joseph Tabone & Co and Senior Partner of KPMG Malta, as well as a board member of the KPMG 
regional practice specialising in Financial Services. Mr Schembri has also acted for a three-year period as director 
of EneMalta Corporation and as a member on the Disciplinary Committee of the Accountancy Board and the Malta 
Institute of Accountants. Mr Schembri was actively involved in the setting up of a KPMG member firm in Libya, acting 
as risk management principal as well as audit principal for foreign owned oil and gas clients operating in Libya.  
Mr. Schembri sits on the Audit, Nominations, Risk and the Remuneration Committees of the Board of Directors of the 
Company.

Throughout these major restructuring initiatives, however, operations have continued uninterrupted as GlobalCapital 
continued to move forward.

Meeting this challenge has not been easy and I would like to thank my colleagues, insurance intermediaries and 
financial advisers for their extraordinary efforts and patience in servicing our clients and growing the business over 
the past year. 

To make life more difficult, European regulations on financial and insurance establishments do not distinguish 
between large multinationals and smaller companies, meaning the costs of keeping up are considerably higher for 
organisations like GlobalCapital. 

It is therefore vital for GlobalCapital to expand its business volume to benefit from the economies of scale that have 
been created thanks to the restructuring process we have undertaken.

Unfortunately, the growth potential of the local market remains limited due to its size and the domination of the major 
banks’ insurance business and in the second half of 2019 the company therefore intends to resume plans to expand 
sales of its life insurance products in other European markets.

The Board of Directors has also approved a strategy to create more synergies between the life insurance and the 
asset management company which will result in lower costs and improved efficiency.

Despite the challenging nature of the past year, we have not forgotten about our social responsibilities. We supported 
various health and sporting initiatives including World Cancer Day, the Institute for Cancer Research and our long-
standing sponsorship of the Bupa Luxol basketball team.

We also completed several marketing projects in 2018, notably the launch of the GlobalCapital website (www.
globalcapital.com.mt) and a dedicated homepage for the Rome Castle (www.castellocollaltosabino.com).

The company also held the first ever edition of the Bupa Awards, which gives special recognition to outstanding 
personalities in the fields of medical research, medical services and social services. This will become an annual event 
in appreciation of the efforts of those who help make our country a place where everybody can access the best 
available medical care.

May I take this opportunity to thank the Board of Directors of GlobalCapital plc and of the subsidiaries for leading and 
supporting one of the biggest changes in the company’s history. 

Special thanks also go to the Senior Independent Director, Joseph Schembri, for his extraordinary contribution to the 
success of this year strategy and for his loyalty to the company.

My thanks also to all our shareholders and I hope that in the coming year we will continue to build on the solid 
foundations we laid for our company in 2018. 

Prof Paolo Catalfamo
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Mr Luca Galli

Mr Galli of Via Benedetto Croce, 60 21053 Castellanza (VA) Italy has been elected as a non-executive director of the 
Company. Mr Galli, a business consultant and qualified electrical engineer, is the Chairman and shareholder of Eniac 
TLC Srl, a company active in the energy sector. He is also director general of Fondazione Minoprio, Chairman of the 
Board of Directors of Serenissima Sgr Spa, Chairman of the foundation Fondazione Comunitaria del Varesotto, and 
a director of A4 Holding Spa, Infracom Spa, 2l Rete Gas Spa. He has served in the past on the board of Finlombarda 
SPA, Fondazione Cariplo, Finlombarda gestioni Sgr S.P.A, M.A.C. S.R.L, Banca IMI., Mediocredito Italiano S.P.A, Cassa 
di Risparmio di Foligno S.P.A., San Paolo IMI Fondi chiusi SGR S.P.A., Cassa di risparmio di Viterbo S.P.A., Credito 
Industriale Sardo S.P.A., Instituto Scientifico Breda S.P.A., Magazzini Generali S.P.A., Fondazione Giordano dell’ Amore, 
V.A.P.R.A. S.P.A., F.G.D.A. Srl and a member of the scientific commission of Fondazione Cariplo for scientific research. 
Mr Galli sits on the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company.

Mr Gregory McGowan

Mr McGowan, also known as Greg, J.D., serves as an Executive Vice President and the General Counsel at Templeton 
International Inc. Mr McGowan also serves as an Executive Vice President at Templeton Investment Counsel, LLC. 
He serves as the Senior Vice President, the Executive Vice President of International Development and the Chief 
International General Counsel at Templeton Worldwide, Inc. Mr McGowan serves as an Executive Vice President and 
Director of Templeton Global Advisors Limited. He joined Templeton Global Advisors Limited in 1986. He served as 
President at Templeton Global Govt., Templeton Emerging Markets Income Fund and Templeton Global Income 
Fund since 1996. Mr McGowan served as a Venture Advisor at Zero Stage Capital. Prior to this, he served as a Senior 
Attorney for the United States Securities and Exchange Commission. Mr McGowan serves as a Director at Templeton 
Asset Management Limited. He has been Non-Executive Director at Templeton Global Growth Fund Ltd. since January 
1999. He serves as a Director at Templeton International Inc., Templeton Worldwide, Inc., and Franklin Templeton 
Investments Australia Limited. He has been Director at GlobalCapital p.l.c. since July 13, 2017. Mr McGowan serves as 
Director of Franklin Templeton Investments Japan Limited, Templeton Investment Counsel LLC, Franklin Templeton 
International Services S.A., Franklin Templeton Investments Asia Limited and Franklin Templeton Holding Limited. He 
is a J. D. from Georgetown University Law Center. Mr McGowan holds an M.A. degree from the University of Paris and 
a B.A. degree in Economics and International Affairs from the University of Pennsylvania.

Mr Peter Astleford

Mr Astleford is a management consultant and independent director. He has over 25 years' experience as a leading 
financial services lawyer, providing advice to fund managers, banks, brokers and corporates with regard to financial 
services regulatory work and investment funds. Mr Astleford was a partner at Dechert LLP between 1997 and 2017, 
during which time he created and led the firm's financial services group in Europe, Asia and the Middle East. Prior to 
joining Dechert LLP, Mr Astleford practised as a solicitor at a boutique city firm, joining as an associate in 1994 and 
becoming a partner in 1995. Between 1990 and 1994, he held positions at INVESCO MIM PLC, the London listed holding 
company to the international financial service group, first as a group legal adviser and latterly as head of corporate 
services. Mr Astleford qualified as a solicitor in 1986 with Linklaters, where he practised in London and Brussels.

Ms Cinzia Catalfamo-Akbaraly

Ms Cinzia Catalfamo studied Economics at the Bocconi University in Milan, focusing in particular on developing 
countries. After moving to Madagascar in 1993, she set up the Fihavanana Association to help orphaned and more 
disadvantaged children, followed in 2008 by the Akbaraly Foundation, a humanitarian organization that works to 
improve living conditions in Madagascar, focusing in particular on the health of women and children. In 2010, she 
launched 4aWoman, the first integrated healthcare project focusing on cancer prevention in sub-Saharan Africa, in 
partnership with the local Ministry of Public Health and the World Health Organization. Since 2017 she is Manager 
of Global Academic Network and Interagency Partnerships at FIFA. Last year, she became a Fellow at the Bocconi 
University, where she has actively contributed to the creation of the Africa Lab within the SDA School of Management, 
an innovative think tank and research lab aiming to contribute to the development of entrepreneurial opportunities in 
Africa. In the same year, she became an Advisor on GlobalCapital’s Board.

Dr Joseph Del Raso

Dr Del Raso is a partner in the Commercial Department of Pepper Hamilton LLP. He is experienced in assisting 
businesses with a variety of international and domestic transactions, and advises on government relations on the 
federal, state and international level. Dr Del Raso leads the firm’s Investment Management Practice Group and is 
co-chair of the firm’s Italian Desk and a practice leader for mutual funds of the firm’s Funds Services Practice Group. 
He is a past member of Pepper Hamilton’s executive committee and currently serves as a director of Freeh Group 
International Solutions, a Pepper Hamilton subsidiary. Dr Del Raso sits on the Audit, the Remuneration and the 
Nominations Committees of the Board of Directors of the Company.
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Prof Carl Jude Schramm 

Prof Schramm is University Professor at Syracuse University and former president of the Ewing Marion Kauffman 
Foundation. Kauffman is the world’s  largest philanthropy  dedicated to promoting entrepreneurship. Schramm is 
recognized internationally as a leading authority on innovation, entrepreneurship, and economic growth. The 
Economist has referred to Schramm as the “evangelist of entrepreneurship.” Schramm, in partnership with former 
British Prime Minister Gordon Brown, created Global Entrepreneurship Week, now observed in 170 countries.  
Dr. Schramm’s academic career began at Johns Hopkins, where he founded the nation’s first research center on 
healthcare finance. He has founded or co-founded five companies, including HCIA and Greenspring Advisors. Schramm 
also has served in major corporate roles including EVP of Fortis (now Assurant) and CEO of Fortis Healthcare. He has 
advised major corporations including Apple, Ford, Johnson & Johnson, Hospital Corporation of America and numerous 
venture capital funds. From 2009 to 2012 he served as a member of the Singapore Prime Minister’s Research, 
Innovation, and Enterprise Council.  He chaired the U.S. Department of Commerce’s Advisory Committee on Measuring 
Innovation in the 21st Century Economy and was a member of the President’s National Advisory Council on Innovation 
and Entrepreneurship. He is a trustee of the Templeton World Charity Foundation and a member of the National 
Academies of Sciences’ Government-University-Industry Research Roundtable. Schramm currently serves as chair of 
the Scientific Committee of the Apple Global Developer Academy and as a member of the Scientific Advisory Board of 
Mars, Inc. He has authored, coauthored, or edited several books including Burn The Business Plan, published in 2018 
by Simon & Schuster; Better Capitalism; Good Capitalism/Bad Capitalism; Inside Real Innovation; The Entrepreneurial 
Imperative; and Controlling Healthcare Costs. His 2010 essay in Foreign Affairs initiated the field of expeditionary 
economics. He was the inaugural Arthur & Carlyse Ciocca Visiting Professor of Innovation and Entrepreneurship at UC 
Davis in the academic years 2013 and 2014, and has served as a visiting scientist at MIT. Professor Schramm holds a 
Ph.D. in economics from Wisconsin, where he was a Ford Foundation Fellow and a New York State Regents Graduate 
Fellow, and a law degree at Georgetown.  He held two consecutive Career Scientist Awards from NIH and was a   
Robert Wood Johnson Foundation Health Policy Fellow at the National Academy of Medicine. He holds five honorary 
degrees and the University of Rochester’s George Eastman Medal. He is a member of the Council on Foreign Relations 
and a Fellow of the Royal Society of Arts.

Company Secretary
Dr Clinton V Calleja

Dr Calleja is a practicing lawyer, specialising in the fields of corporate and commercial law.  He is a partner of the law 
firm Guido de Marco & Associates – Advocates.  Dr Calleja was appointed company secretary of GlobalCapital p.l.c. and 
its regulated and operating subsidiaries in 2008.
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GlobalCapital p.l.c. Group Structure

100%
GlobalCapital
Holdings Ltd.

Malta

100%
GlobalCapital

Life Insurance Ltd.
Malta

100%
GlobalCapital

Financial  
Management Ltd.

Malta

100%
Central Landmark
Development Ltd.

Malta

100%
GlobalCapital

Health Insurance 
Agency Ltd.

Malta

100%
Global Estates Ltd.

Malta

100% Global 
Properties Ltd.

(Medunarodne  
Nekretnine d.o.o)

Croatia

100%
Quadrant Italia s.r.l 

Italia

Principal companies 
with GlobalCapital p.l.c.
GlobalCapital Life Insurance Limited

The company is authorised by the Malta Financial Services Authority to carry on long-term business of insurance in Malta as a 
principal under Class I (Life and Annuity) and Class III (Linked Long Term Contracts of Insurance) in terms of the Insurance Business 
Act, 1998. GlobalCapital Life Insurance Limited is engaged principally in ordinary life assurance business (interest sensitive and 
term), industrial life assurance business (home service) and linked long term contracts of insurance.
It provides both single premium and regular premium saving products and a range of life assurance products, including term, 
interest sensitive endowment and group life policies.

Board of Directors
Prof Paolo Catalfamo – Chairman
Mr Joseph C Schembri
Ms Cristina Casingena – Managing Director
Mr Nick Taylor
Mr Mario P Galea

Company Secretary
Dr Clinton V Calleja

GlobalCapital Health Insurance Agency Limited

The company is authorised to act as an insurance agent for Bupa Insurance Ltd (UK) in relation to sickness insurance in accordance 
with the Insurance Intermediaries Act, 2006. As the exclusive agent in Malta for BUPA, the company is engaged in the promotion, 
administration and provision of health insurance cover for individuals and groups in Malta.

Board of Directors
Prof Paolo Catalfamo – Chairman
Mr Joseph C Schembri
Mr Jonathan Camilleri – Managing Director
Ms Adriana Zarb Adami
Mr Mario P Galea 

Company Secretary
Dr Clinton V Calleja

GlobalCapital Financial Management Limited

The company is licensed to conduct investment services under its Category 2 licence, issued by the Malta Financial Services 
Authority and is licensed to provide fund management and fund administration services in respect of collective investment 
schemes.

Through its stockbroking services, it provides clients with access to equities, bonds, funds and other financial instruments on 
both local and international markets. It also provides tailor-made income and capital guaranteed investment products, portfolio 
management services, investment advice and corporate guidance.

The company is also licensed by the Malta Financial Services Authority to provide investment advice in respect of collective 
investment schemes.

Board of Directors
Prof Paolo Catalfamo – Chairman
Mr Joseph C Schembri
Mr Francesco Guarnieri – Managing Director

Company Secretary
Dr Clinton V Calleja

100%
Brammer Ltd.

Bulgaria

*

* Liquidated after year-end.
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Group Financial Highlights

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
EUR GBP USD EUR GBP USD EUR GBP USD EUR GBP USD EUR GBP USD

Commission and fees receivable 2,323,009 2,055,179 2,743,368 2,472,496 2,193,673 2,965,264 2,704,144 2,315,234 2,850,438 2,568,299 1,885,003 2,796,107 2,724,420 2,122,051 3,307,718

Commission payable and direct marketing costs (153,391) (135,706) (181,148) (101,447) (90,007) (121,665) (154,797) (132,534) (163,172) (147,059) (107,934) (160,103) (145,333) (113,200) (176,449)

Balance on the long term business of insurance  
technical account

(1,343,606) (1,188,696) (1,586,738) (840,622) (745,825) (1,008,158) (2,359,112) (2,019,825) (2,486,740) 941,509 691,021 1,025,021 1,316,623 1,025,518 1,598,512

Increment in value of in-force business 2,259,171 1,998,702 2,667,978 1,941,211 1,722,301 2,328,094 2,821,660 2,415,849 2,974,312 1,355,385 994,785 1,475,608 610,968 475,883 741,776

Administrative expenses (2,733,752) (2,418,566) (3,228,437) (2,476,781) (2,197,474) (2,970,403) (2,272,973) (1,946,074) (2,395,941) (2,771,866) (2,034,411) (3,017,731) (3,078,461) (2,397,813) (3,737,560)

Net Investment charges net of allocation  
to the insurance technical account

958,981 848,416 1,132,513 3,636,376 3,226,302 4,361,106 2,560,305 2,192,082 2,698,818 3,776,824 2,772,000 4,111,828 (341,191) (265,754) (414,240)

Other Provisions (142,221) (125,824) (167,957) 12,962 11,500 15,545 (519,513) (444,797) (547,619) (116,587) (85,569) (126,928) (275,875) (214,879) (334,940)

Profit before tax  1,168,191  1,033,505  1,379,579  4,644,195  4,120,469  5,569,783  2,779,714  2,379,936  2,930,097  5,606,505  4,114,894  6,103,802  811,151  631,806  984,818 

Tax expense  (785,387) (694,836) (927,506)  (1,474,812)  (1,308,497)  (1,768,742)  (926,557)  (793,300)  (976,684)  (1,481,762)  (1,087,539)  (1,613,194)  (588,480)  (458,367)  (714,474)

Profit for the financial year  382,804  338,669  452,073  3,169,383  2,811,972  3,801,041  1,853,157  1,586,636  1,953,413  4,124,743  3,027,354  4,490,609  222,671  173,438  270,345 

Earnings per share  0.01  0.01  0.02  0.11  0.09  0.13  0.07  0.06  0.07  0.31  0.23  0.34  0.02  0.01  0.02 

Share capital  8,735,160  7,813,863  10,001,758  8,735,160  7,750,096  10,476,077  8,735,160  7,478,869  9,207,732  3,845,668  2,822,528  4,186,779  3,845,668  2,995,391  4,669,026 

Technical reserves - life business  99,490,962  88,997,650  113,917,151 89,440,106  79,353,945  107,265,519 80,183,066  68,651,137 84,520,970  67,452,974  49,507,110  73,436,053  63,481,726  49,445,916  77,073,164 

Shareholders' funds  18,481,328  16,532,102  21,161,121  18,248,362  16,190,494  21,885,261  15,119,792  12,945,264  15,937,773  7,360,089  5,401,937  8,012,929  3,162,547  2,463,308  3,839,648 

Net asset value per share  0.62  0.55  0.71  0.61  0.54  0.73  0.58  0.49  0.61  0.56  0.41  0.61  0.24  0.19  0.29 

All current year figures have been converted at rates of exchange issued by the European Central Bank. 
Statement of Comprehensive Income items were converted using the average rates for the year whilst  
the Statement of Financial Position items were converted at year-end rates.
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Directors’ Report
The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Principal activities

GlobalCapital p.l.c. (the “Company”) together with its subsidiaries (the “Subsidiaries” and together with the Company 
the “Group”) is involved in:

-	 the carrying on of long term business of insurance under the Insurance Business Act  
(Cap. 403 of the Laws of Malta);

-	 acting as an agent for sickness and accident insurance in terms of the Insurance Distribution Act (Cap. 487 
of the Laws of Malta);

-	 the provision of investment services and advice in terms of the Investment Services Act (Cap. 370 of the 
Laws of Malta);and

-	 the provision on behalf of Group undertakings of property management and consultancy services, including 
property acquisitions, disposals and development projects.

Review of business

Consolidated results

GlobalCapital p.l.c.’s consolidated results registered pre-tax earnings for the year amounting to €1.2M compared to 
€4.6M in 2017. 

The Group recognised an increase in the fair value gains on investment property through the income statement. In 
2018 the fair value gain amounted to €1.7M compared to €2.1M in 2017. The net fair value  loss on financial investments 
recorded in the income statement in 2018 amounted to €2.2M compared to a gain of €1.05M recognised in 2017.

Group assets increased by 8.1% (2017: 12.3%) from €127.4M as at 31 December 2017 to €137.8M as at 31 December 2018 
whereas shareholder funds also increased by 1.3% (2017: 20.7%). The Group’s net asset value at end of the year stood 
at €18.5M (2017:  €18.2M).

GlobalCapital p.l.c. 

During the financial year 2018, the Group continued consolidating its position in the local market. The Group’s debt 
to equity ratio remained relatively in line with the previous years as 56% as at the end of the current reporting period 
when compared to 54% as at end December 2017.
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GlobalCapital Health Insurance Agency Limited

GlobalCapital Health Insurance Agency Limited (“GCHIA”) registered a profit before tax of €0.2M compared to a prior 
period profit of €0.7M. During the year the company registered a slight increase in revenue which was mitigated 
by the provision for inter-company balances receivable of €416K (2017: Nil) and to a lesser extent by an increase in 
administrative expenses.  

Net assets increased from €912K at end 2017 to €1.05M at end 2018. During the year no dividend was distributed by 
the company (2017: Net €650K).

GlobalCapital Financial Management Limited

GCFM sustained a loss before tax of €923K compared to €88K in the prior year. The loss before tax was mainly 
attributable to decrease in revenue of €217K following increased competition in the local market, an impairment of 
inter-company balances receivable of €162K (2017: Nil); an additional provision for claims of €142K (2017: release of 
€13K) and increase in administrative expenses to comply with the standard license conditions. During the year the 
company recruited additional professional staff to satisfy local licence conditions and invested substantial resources 
to upgrade its IT systems. A large portion of these expenses are non-recurring. The board of directors of the parent 
company in line with the other two operating companies appointed a Managing Director to GCFM. 

As a result of the loss before tax, GCFM closed in a net liability position of €240K as at end of the current reporting 
period (2017:  net assets of €683K). On 12 April 2019, the Directors resolved to increase the issued share capital of 
GCFM through the capitalisation of an amount due to the intermediate parent company, which as at 31 December 
2018 amounted to €375,094. This capitalisation will contribute to the maintenance of own funds balance at the level 
which should be equal to or in excess of its capital resources requirement of a minimum €125K.

Future outlook

As announced on 23 March 2018 followed by a further announcement on 20 December 2018, the Company has 
submitted an application to the Listing Authority in April 2018 requesting the admissibility to listing of new ordinary 
shares pursuant to a rights issue (the “Rights Issue”). The intention is for this to be completed during 2019. If subscribed 
in full, the proposed Rights Issue will raise a total amount of approximately €6M. The Company is seeking to raise 
additional equity through the proposed Rights Issue to provide additional working capital to support the Company’s 
business strategy and to settle some intercompany balances. The Board considers the additional equity to be raised 
through the proposed Rights Issue to be appropriate to strengthen the capital levels of the Company in the context 
of the evolving business and regulatory environment.

GlobalCapital Life Insurance Limited

GlobalCapital Life Insurance Limited (“GCLI”) registered a total comprehensive income for the year of €0.2M compared 
to €4.7M in 2017. This includes the net movement in value-in-force business and available-for-sale investments.

In comparison to last year’s results, the 2018 results were materially impacted by the net fair value movement in 
investment property and net fair value movement in investments. The former registered a gain of €474K against a  
prior year gain of €2.1M whilst the latter sustained a loss of €2.1 million compared to a gain of €1.3M during the 
comparative period. Furthermore, during 2017 the company was in receipt of a dividend from its subsidiary amounting 
to €1M, which dividend did not materialise during 2018. 

The net assets of GCLI increased by 1% (2017: 16.4%) from €28.7M in 2017 to €28.9M as at the end of the current 
reporting period.
 
The company registered an increase in the ordinary business, mainly protection and unit linked, except interest 
sensitive single premium business, where a decrease was registered. Gross written premium for the year amounted 
to €12M compared to €12.6M at the end of the comparative period, a decrease of 4% (2017: an increase of 17%) year 
on year. Claims incurred net of reinsurance decreased by €0.8M (2017: €1.4M) with those of the prior year, a decrease 
of 10.1% (2017: 15%) year on year. The company has continued with its efforts to recapture an amount of maturing 
business. 

An important part of our business involves managing the treasury function, investing policyholder and shareholder 
funds across a wide range of financial investments, including equities, fixed income securities and to a lesser extent 
properties. GCLI results are sensitive to the volatility in the market value of these investments, either directly because 
the company bears the investment risk, or indirectly because the company earn management fees for investments 
managed on behalf of policyholders. Throughout 2018, investment conditions remained significantly challenging with 
the persisting low interest rate environment coupled with the weak local equity market. 

GCLI continued to undertake restructuring and transformation activity to align the business operations with the 
Board-approved strategy. Significant efforts to differentiate ourselves from the market started during the course 
of 2017 with a stronger emphasis in the current year. During 2018, we enhanced the governance structure of this 
company by appointing a dedicated managing director whereby a more focused approach is being taken. 

Total assets increased by 7.5% (2017: 13.4%) from €125.3M at 31 December 2017 to €134.6M as at the end of the current 
reporting period. Technical provisions increased by 11.6% (2017: 11.4%) from €88M to €98.2M. GCLI’s Solvency II ratio 
was a healthy one during the year.  The unaudited ratio of eligible funds to SCR at 31 December 2018 was 175% 
(2017:169%).

GCLI’s value of in-force business for 2018 registered an increase of €1.5M (2017: €1.3M), in aggregate amounting 
to €9.6M (2017:  €8.1M) at 31 December 2018 - this represents the discounted projected future shareholder profits 
expected from the insurance policies in force as at year end, adjusted for taxation.
 
GCLI’s board of directors approved a 2018 bonus declaration of 3.5% for Money Plus policies (2017: 3.5%) and 1.5% 
(2017: 3.1%) for all other interest sensitive products. GCLI also announced a bonus rate of 0.5% (2017: 0.75%) for paid 
up policies. The company also committed to a terminal bonus for policies maturing during the course of 2018.
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Directors

The Directors of the Company who held office during the period were:

Paolo Catalfamo (Chairman)
Joseph C. Schembri (Senior Independent Director)			 
Joseph Del Raso				  
Peter Astleford 				    - 	 Appointed 11 May 2018	
Luca Galli
Cinzia Catalfamo				    -	 Appointed 27 June 2018
Carl Schramm				    -	 Appointed 27 June 2018
Gregory Eugene McGowan	
Andrea Gemma				    -	 Retired 27 June 2018
Jacopo Di Stefano			   -	 Retired 27 June 2018
Reuben Zammit				    - 	 Resigned 08 January 2018	
			 
The Directors are required in terms of the Company’s Articles of Association to retire at the forthcoming Annual 
General Meeting and may offer themselves for re-appointment or re-election.

Auditors

Ernst & Young Malta Limited have intimated their willingness to continue in office and a resolution for their re-
appointment will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting. 

Information pursuant to Listing Rule 5.64

The Company has an authorised share capital of €58,234,400 (2017: €58,234,400 divided into 200,000,000 ordinary 
shares with a nominal value of €0.291172 each). The issued share capital of the Company is €8,735,160 (2017: €8,735,160 
divided into 30,000,000 ordinary shares of €0.291172 each). The issued shares of the Company consist of one class 
of ordinary shares with equal voting rights attached. The shares carry equal right to participate in any distribution of 
dividends declared by the Company. Each share shall be entitled to one vote at the meetings of the shareholders. The 
shares are freely transferable in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Malta Stock Exchange applicable 
from time to time.

The Directors confirm that, as at 31 December 2018, Investar plc (52.60%), BAI Co. (Mtius) Ltd (21.33%) and Rizzo 
Farrugia & Co (Stockbrokers) Ltd - clients’ accounts (9.73%) held a shareholding in excess of 5% of the total issued 
share capital.

The remuneration committee of the Board of Directors, consisting mainly of Non-Executive Directors, has the 
responsibility to assist and advise the Board on matters relating to the  remuneration  of the Board and senior 
management, in order to motivate and retain executives and ensure that the Company is able to attract the best 
talent in the market in order to maximise shareholder value.

The rules governing the appointment and replacement of the Company’s Directors are contained in Articles 73 to 81 
of the Company’s Articles of Association.

Compliance with new European Directives

There has been an increased focus in the EU on the fair treatment of customers, particularly the way in which the 
insurance and fund management industries sell and administer insurance policies and other products. In particular, 
as from 1 October 2018, GCLI and GCHIA are required to comply with the provisions of Directive (EU) 2016/97 of the 
European Parliament and Council of 20 January 2016, on insurance distribution (recast) (“IDD”), which introduced 
enhanced information and conduct of business requirements. Apart from the new General Data Protection Regulation 
(“GDPR”) which provisions apply to Group level, subsidiaries and third parties with whom the Group exchanges 
information, from an investment services perspective, 2018 also saw the introduction of the Markets in Financial 
Instruments Directive (“MiFID II”). The Board remains committed to complying with legislation and also ensure that 
the Group maintains best practice.

Principal risks and uncertainties
	
The Group’s and Company’s principal risks and uncertainties are further disclosed in the financial statements Note 1 
Critical accounting estimates and judgements, Note 2 Management of insurance and financial risk, Note 11 Intangible 
assets covering details on the Group’s goodwill and value of in-force business, Note 14 Investment property disclosing 
the significant observable inputs and Note 17 Technical provisions which include the valuation assumptions.

Financial risk management

Note 2 to the financial statements provides details in connection with the Group’s use of financial instruments, its 
financial risk management objectives and policies and the financial risks to which it is exposed.

Results and dividends

The statements of comprehensive income are set out on pages 27 and 28. The Directors do not recommend the 
declaration of a dividend (2017: € Nil). 

Events after the financial reporting date

There were no additional important events or transactions, other than that mentioned in Note 32, which took place 
after the financial reporting date which would require disclosure or adjustment thereon. 

Going concern

The Directors, as required by Listing Rule 5.62 have considered the Group’s and Company’s operational performance, 
the statements of financial position as at year end as well as the business plans for the coming year, and declare 
that they have a reasonable expectation that the Group and the Company have adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, in preparing the financial statements, the Company 
is in a position to continue operating as a going concern for the foreseeable future. 
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The Directors can only issue shares following an extraordinary resolution passed in the General Meeting. This and 
other powers vested in the Company’s Directors are confirmed in Articles 82 to 99 of the Company’s Articles of 
Association. 

It is hereby declared that, as at 31 December 2018, information required under Listing Rules 5.64.4, 5.64.6, 5.64.7, 
5.64.10 and 5.64.11 is not applicable to the Company.

Information pursuant to Listing Rule 5.70

With the exception of a €0.5M loan from the ultimate parent company (Investar plc.), there were no material contracts 
in relation to which a Director of the Company was directly or indirectly interested.

Information pursuant to Listing Rule 5.70.2

The Company Secretary is Clinton V. Calleja and the registered office is GlobalCapital, Testaferrata Street, Ta’ Xbiex, 
Malta. 

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by:

Prof Paolo Catalfamo						      Joseph C. Schembri
Chairman							       Director

Testaferrata Street, 
Ta’ Xbiex, 
Malta

7 May 2019

Corporate Governance  
Statement of Compliance 
In accordance with the Listing Rules issued by the Listing Authority of the Malta Financial Services Authority (the 
“MFSA”), GlobalCapital p.l.c. (the “Company”) reports on the extent of its adoption of the Code of Principles of Good 
Corporate Governance (the “Principles”), and the relevant measures undertaken. 

1. Adoption of the principles 

The responsibility for ensuring good corporate governance vests in the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors of 
GlobalCapital p.l.c. remains committed to the adoption of the Principles and best practices established by international 
codes on corporate governance. The Board of Directors also believes strongly in the importance of appropriate 
disclosures to ensure transparency and protection of the Company’s stakeholders. 

2. Board of Directors

During the financial year ended 31 December 2018, the Board of Directors consisted of eight (8) directors. In January 
2018, Prof. Paolo Catalfamo, was appointed Executive Chairman, assuming the functions and powers of the Chief 
Executive Officer until the Company appointed Managing Directors for each of its regulated subsidiaries, GlobalCapital 
Life Insurance Limited, GlobalCapital Health Insurance Limited and GlobalCapital Financial Management Limited later 
on in the year.  The Board also went on to appoint Joseph C. Schembri as non-executive Senior Independent Director 
of the Company. The directors bring to the Company a wide range of expertise. Directors are elected on an individual 
basis by ordinary resolution of the Company in General Meeting in accordance with the Company’s Memorandum and 
Articles of Association. Details of the attendance of Board Members will be available for inspection at the forthcoming 
Annual General Meeting. 

The Board of Directors meets in accordance with a regular schedule of meetings and reviews and evaluates the 
Group’s strategy, major operational and financial plans, as well as new material initiatives to be undertaken by the 
Group. The Board of Directors also meets and discusses from time to time, as often as is required. The Board of 
Directors meets formally at least once every quarter and at other times on an ‘as and when’ required basis. During the 
period under review the Board of Directors met seven (7) times. 

Under the direction of the Chairman, the Company Secretary’s responsibilities include ensuring good information 
flows between the Board and its committees and between senior management and the Directors as well as ensuring 
that the Board’s procedures are followed. In addition, the Directors may also seek external professional advice on their 
duties and responsibilities, at the Company’s expense. The Company’s Articles of Association also provide for adequate 
controls and procedures in so far as the treatment of conflicts of interest during Board Meetings are concerned. 
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3. Committees 

3.1 Board Committees 

The Board of Directors delegates a number of specific duties to the following Board Committees: 

- Audit and Risk Committee 
- Nominations and Remuneration Committee 

3.1.1. Audit and Risk Committee 

The Audit Committee is composed entirely of non-executive directors and assists the Board in monitoring and 
reviewing the Group’s financial statements, accounting policies and internal control mechanisms in accordance with 
the Committee’s terms of reference. The responsibilities of the Audit Committee also include the review and approval 
of related party transactions in accordance with the Listing Rules. 

The Audit Committee also approves and reviews the Group’s Compliance Plan and Internal Audit Plan prior to the 
commencement of every financial year and monitors the implementation of these plans. During the financial year 
under review, the Audit Committee met five (5) times. The Audit Committee was composed of Joseph C. Schembri, 
Joseph Del Raso and Luca Galli (resigned 27 June 2018) and Peter Asteleford (appointed 27 June 2018). Throughout 
2018 Joseph Schembri chaired the Audit Committee. Joseph Schembri, an auditor by profession, is considered to be 
the independent non-executive director competent in auditing/accounting as required in terms of the Listing Rules. 

The Group’s Internal Auditors, the Company’s External Auditors and members from management are invited to attend 
Audit Committee Meetings on a regular basis, as deemed appropriate. 

3.1.2. Nominations and Remuneration Committee 

The Nominations and Remuneration Committee is responsible for recommending Directors for election by 
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting, for planning the structure, size, performance and composition of the 
Group’s subsidiary boards, for the appointment of senior executives and management and for the development of a 
succession plan for senior executives and management. It monitors, reviews and advises on the Group’s remuneration 
policy as well as approves the remuneration packages of senior executives and management. 

During the financial year under review, the Remuneration and Nominations Committee met three (3) times and was 
composed of Joseph Del Raso, as Chairman and Joseph C. Schembri as member. 

3.2 Executive Committee 

The Executive Management Committee manages the Group’s day-to-day business and the implementation of the 
strategy established by the Board of Directors. The Executive Management Committee as at 31 December 2018 was 
composed of the following members:

Cristina Casingena	 - 	 Managing Director GlobalCapital Life Insurance Limited
Francesco Guarnieri	 -	 Managing Director GlobalCapital Financial Management Limited
Jonathan Camilleri	 -	 Managing Director GlobalCapital Health Insurance Agency Limited
Ezekiel Saliba		  -	 Group Chief Financial Officer
Pablo Perez		  -	 Group Chief Operations Officer
George Onete		  -	 Chief Technical Officer
Michael Schembri	 - 	 Head Legal & Compliance
Adriana Zarb Adami	 -	 Head of Marketing
Nigel Rausi 		  - 	 Compliance Manager (resigned 31 December 2018)

4. Directors’ dealings 

The Directors are informed of their obligations on dealing in GlobalCapital p.l.c. shares in accordance with the 
parameters, procedures and reporting requirements established in terms of applicable law and the Group’s Dealing 
Rules. 

No material transactions in the Company’s shares were effected in which any director had a beneficial or non-
beneficial interest. 

5. Internal controls 

GlobalCapital p.l.c. encompasses different licensed activities regulated by the Malta Financial Services Authority. 
These activities include investment services business under the Investment Services Act, business of insurance under 
the Insurance Business Act and insurance intermediaries` activities under the Insurance Distribution Act, as well as 
business of a financial institution under the Financial Institutions Act. The Board of Directors has continued to ensure 
that effective internal controls and processes are maintained to support sound operations. 

The Internal Audit department monitors and reviews the Group’s compliance with policies, standards and best practice 
in accordance with an internal audit plan approved by the Audit Committee. KPMG fulfil the functions of internal 
auditors of the Company. 
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6. Annual General Meeting and communication with Shareholders 

Business at the Company’s Annual General Meeting, to be held later in 2019, will cover the approval of the Annual 
Report and Audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2018, the election/re-election of Directors, 
the determination of the maximum aggregate emoluments that may be paid to Directors, the appointment of auditors 
and the authorisation of the Directors to set the auditors` remuneration. 

Apart from the Annual General Meeting, the Group communicates with its shareholders through the Annual Report 
and Financial Statements, the publication of preliminary statements of interim and annual results, updates and articles 
on the Group’s website, the publication of Group announcements and press releases. 

7. Corporate social responsibility 

During the financial year under review, the Group pursued its corporate social responsibility by supporting and 
contributing to a number of charitable causes. 

Approved by the Board of Directors on 7 May 2019 and signed on its behalf by: 

Prof Paolo Catalfamo					     Joseph C. Schembri 
Chairman						      Director

Remuneration Committee Report 
The composition and terms of reference of the GlobalCapital p.l.c. Remuneration Committee are in accordance with 
the recommendations set out in the Malta Financial Services Authority Listing Rules. 
During the financial year under review the Nomination and Remuneration Committee met three (3) times. 

The attendance at the meetings was at follows: 

Remuneration Committee Member 				    Committee meetings attended 

Joseph C. Schembri								        3
Joseph Del Raso									         3

The main role of the Remuneration Committee include devising of appropriate policies and remuneration packages 
to attract, retain and motivate Directors and senior management of a high caliber in order to well position the Group 
within the financial services market and its areas of business. 

Remuneration Statement 

Senior management remuneration packages consist of basic salary and benefits. 

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, the total emoluments payable to Directors, whether as 
fees and/or salaries by virtue of holding employment with the Company, shall be subject to Shareholder approval in 
General Meetings. The following is the total of the Directors` emoluments for the financial year under review: 

			     2018		  2017
			   €	 €

Fees			   226,639	 249,802
Remuneration			   204,300	 102,683
			   --------------------------	 --------------------------
			   430,939	 352,485
			   ================	 ================

Directors` remuneration and fees are disclosed in aggregate.
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Statement of Directors’  
Responsibilities
The Directors are required by the Companies Act (Cap. 386) to prepare financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs 
of the Company and the Group at the end of each financial year and of the profit or loss of the Company and the 
Group for the year then ended. In preparing the financial statements, the Directors should:

•	 select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently;
•	 make judgments and estimates that are reasonable; and
•	 prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate 
	 to presume that the Company and the Group will continue in business as a going concern.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that proper accounting records are kept which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and the Group and which enable the Directors to ensure 
that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act (Cap. 386). This responsibility includes designing, 
implementing and maintaining such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Directors are also 
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group, and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Statement of the Directors  
pursuant to Listing Rule 5.68
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge:

1. 	 the financial statements, prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted 
by the EU and in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act (Cap. 386), give a true and fair view of 
the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Company and the undertakings included in the 
consolidation taken as a whole; and 

2.	 the Directors’ report includes a fair review of the performance of the business and the position of the Company 
and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a description of the principal 
risks and uncertainties that they face.

Approved by the Board of Directors on 7 May 2019 and signed on its behalf by:

Prof Paolo Catalfamo						      Joseph C. Schembri
Chairman							       Director

Statements of  
comprehensive income

Year ended 31 December
 	 	                            Group 	 	                       Company 	 
 	 Notes	 2018	 2017	 2018	 2017
 	 	  €	 €	 €	 €
 	 	 	 	 	     
Commission and fees receivable 	 3	 2,323,009	 2,472,496	 -	 -
Commission payable and direct marketing costs	 4	 (153,391)	 (101,447)	 -	 -
Balance on the long term 
business of insurance technical 
account before tax (page 28)	 	  (1,343,606)	 (840,622)	 -	 -
Increment in the value of in-force business 	 	  2,259,171	 1,941,211	 -	 -
Staff costs	 4	 (1,402,690)	 (1,320,010)	 -	 -
Other expenses	 4	 (1,331,062)	 (1,156,771)	 (289,763)	 (372,614)
Investment income/(expense), 	 	 	 	    
net of allocation to the 
insurance technical account	 6	 958,981	 3,636,376	 (578,240)	 (557,279) 
 	 	  ———————	 ———————	 ———————	 ———————
Profit/(loss) for the year before	 	 	 	 	     
other charges	 	  1,310,412	 4,631,233	 (868,003)	 (929,893)
Other provisions	 4	 (142,221)	 12,962	 -	 - 
 	 	  ———————	 ———————	 ———————	 ———————
Profit/(loss) before tax	 	  1,168,191	 4,644,195	 (868,003)	 (929,893)
Tax charge	 7	 (785,387)	 (1,474,812)	 -	 -
 	 	  ———————	 ———————	 ———————	 ———————
Profit/(loss) for the financial year	 	 	 	 	     
attributable to the shareholders	 	 	 	 	     
of the Company	 	  382,804	 3,169,383	 (868,003)	 (929,893)
 	 	  ==================	 ==================	 ===================	 ================
Other comprehensive income/(loss)	 	 	 	 	     

Items that will be reclassified	 	 	 	 	     
subsequently to profit or loss	 	 	 	 	     
Net loss on available-for-sale financial assets	  	 (230,519)	 (62,790)
Deferred tax on available-for-sale financial assets	 	 80,681	 21,977	 -	  - 
 	 	  ———————	 ——————	 —————	 —————
	 	  (149,838)	 (40,813)	 -	  - 
 	 	  ———————	 ——————	 —————	 —————
Total comprehensive income/(loss)	 	 	 	 	     
for the year, net of tax,	 	 	 	 	     
attributable to the shareholders	 	 	 	 	     
of the Company	 	  232,966	 3,128,570	 (868,003)	 (929,893)
 	 	  ================	 ====================	 ====================	 ======================
 	 	 	 	  
 	 
Profit per share (cents)	 9	 1c3	 10c5		  
 	 	  ================	 ================
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Technical Account 
Long term business of insurance
	 Year ended 31 December
									         				  
	 Group
  	 Notes	 2018	 2017
 	 	  €	 €
Earned premiums, net of reinsurance	 	   	  
Gross premiums written	 	  12,017,964	 12,560,345
Outward reinsurance premiums	 	  (1,500,493)	 (1,318,333)
 	 	  ————————	 ————————
Earned premiums, net of reinsurance	 	  10,517,471	 11,242,012
Investment income	 6	 917,697	 1,840,323
Investment contract fee income	 	  829,623	 775,069
 	 	  ————————	 ————————
Total technical income	  	 12,264,791	 13,857,404
 	 	  ————————	 ————————
Claims incurred, net of reinsurance	 	   	  
Claims paid	 	   	  
 -    gross amount	 	  7,771,852	 8,190,128
 -     reinsurers’ share	 	  (783,276)	 (561,183)
 	 	  ————————	 ————————
 	 	  6,988,576	 7,628,945 
 	 	  ————————	 ————————
Change in the provision for claims	 	   	  
 -    gross amount	 	  (110,137)	 245,071 
 -    reinsurers’ share	 	  260,311	 23,698
 	 	  ———————	 ————————
 	 17	 150,174	 268,769
 	 	  ———————	 ————————
Claims incurred, net of reinsurance	 	  7,138,750	  7,897,714 
 	 	  ———————	 ————————
Change in other technical provisions, net of reinsurance	 	   	  
Insurance contracts 	 	   	  
 -    gross amount	 	  4,199,234	 1,973,940
-     reinsurers’ share	 	  (3,927,016)	 (2,062,242)
 	 	  ————————	 ————————
 	 17	 272,218	 (88,302)
Investment contracts with DPF - gross	 17	 3,012,316	 4,112,624 
Investment contracts without DPF - gross	 	  91,609	 (141,538)
 	 	  ————————	 ————————
Change in other technical provisions, net of reinsurance	 3,376,143	 3,882,784
 	 	  ————————	 ————————
 	 	   	 
Claims incurred and change in other technical provisions,
net of reinsurance	 	  10,514,893	 11,780,498 
 	 	  
Net operating expenses	 4	 3,093,504	 2,917,528 
 	 
 	 	  ————————	 —————————
Total technical charges	 	  13,608,397	 14,698,026
	 	  ————————	 —————————
Balance on the long term business
of insurance technical account before tax (page 27) 	 (1,343,606)	 (840,622)
 	 	  ================	 ==================

Statements of financial position
        As at 31 December

 	 	  Group	 	  Company	 
 	 	  2018	 2017	 2018	 2017
 	 Notes	 €	 €	 €	 €
 	  	  	  	 	  
ASSETS	  	  	 	 	   
Intangible assets	 11	 11,580,033  	 10,197,821	 -	 -	
Property, plant & equipment	 13	 2,059,473	 2,126,712	 3,130	 1,828 
Investment property	 14	 22,569,692	 20,855,955	 -	 - 
Investment in group undertakings	 15	 -	 -	 6,451,553	 6,451,553 
Other investments 	 16	 73,235,562	 71,338,406	 -	 - 
Reinsurers’ share of technical provisions	 17	 13,359,221	 9,692,516	 -	 - 
Taxation receivable 	 	  838,723	 413,492	 139	 139 
Trade and other receivables 	 18	 3,153,357	 2,591,772	 1,142,708	 455,104 
Cash and cash equivalents	 25	 11,029,822	 10,250,424	 281,105	 309,297 
 	 	  —————————	 —————————	 ————————	 —————————
Total assets	 	  137,825,883	 127,467,098	 7,878,635	 7,217,921 
 	 	  ========================	 =====================	 =====================	 =====================
 	 	   	  	  	 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES	 	 	 	 	     
Capital and reserves attributable 
to the company’s shareholders	  	  	  	  	 
Share capital	 19	 8,735,160	 8,735,160	 8,735,160	 8,735,160
Share premium account	 20	 -	 -	 -	 - 
Other reserves	 21	 9,688,698	 8,370,075	 -	 - 
Retained earnings/(accumulated losses)	 	  57,470	 1,143,127	 (15,244,576)	 (14,376,573)
 	 	  ————————	 ————————	 ————————	 ————————
Total equity/(deficiency)	 	  18,481,328	 18,248,362	 (6,509,416)	 (5,641,413)
 	 	  ————————	 ————————	 ————————	 ————————
 	  	  	  	  	 
Technical provisions:	 	   	  	  	 
  Insurance contracts	 17	 60,690,251	 56,491,017	 -	 - 
  Investment contracts with DPF	 17	 24,689,078	 21,676,762	 -	 - 
  Investment contracts without DPF	 17	 12,788,505	 9,839,062	 -	 - 
  Provision for claims outstanding	 17	 1,323,128	 1,433,265	 -	 - 
Interest bearing borrowings 	 22	 10,357,576	 9,779,958	 10,357,576	 9,779,958
Deferred tax liability	 12	 2,845,217	 3,009,014	 -	 - 
Trade and other payables	 23	 6,650,800	 6,989,658	 4,030,475	 3,079,376
 	 	  —————————	 —————————	 ————————	 ————————
Total liabilities	 	  119,344,555	 109,218,736	 14,388,051	 12,859,334	
 	 	  —————————	 —————————	 ————————	 ————————
Total equity and liabilities	  	 137,825,883	 127,467,098	 7,878,635	 7,217,921 
 	 	  =======================	 =========================	 =====================	 =====================

The financial statements on pages 27 to 101 were approved by the Board of Directors, authorised for issue on 7 May 
2019 and were signed on its behalf by:

Prof Paolo Catalfamo					     Joseph C. Schembri
Chairman						      Director
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Statements of changes in equity
Group

	 Attributable to the company’s shareholders
 					     (Accumulated
 			   Share		  losses)/
 		  Share	 premium	 Other	 retained	
 		  capital	 account	 reserves	 earnings	 Total
		  €	 €	 €	 €	 €
 						      
Balance at 1 January 2017		  8,735,160	 16,970,641	 7,149,101	 (17,735,110)	 15,119,792
		  ------------------------------------	 ------------------------------------	 ------------------------------------	 ------------------------------------	 -----------------------------------

Profit for the financial year		  -	 -	 - 	 3,169,383	 3,169,383	
Other comprehensive loss
for the year		  -	    -	 (40,813) 	 - 	 (40,813) 
 		  ------------------------------------	 ------------------------------------	 ------------------------------------	 ------------------------------------	 -----------------------------------
Total comprehensive (loss)/gain
for the year		  -	 -	 (40,813)	 3,169,383	 3,128,570
 		  ------------------------------------	 ------------------------------------	 ------------------------------------	 ------------------------------------	 -----------------------------------

Increment in value of 	
in-force business,
transferred to other reserves 		  - 	 -	 1,261,787	 (1,261,787)	 -

Set-off of share premium		
against accumulated losses		  - 	 (16,970,641) 	 -	 16,970,641	 -
 		  --------------------------------	 ------------------------------------	 ------------------------------------	 ------------------------------------	 -----------------------------------
		  - 	 (16,970,641) 	 1,261,787	 15,708,854	 -
 		  --------------------------------	 ------------------------------------	 ------------------------------------	 ------------------------------------	 -----------------------------------

Balance at 31 December 2017		  8,735,160	 -	 8,370,075	 1,143,127	 18,248,362
 		  ===================	 ===================	 ===================	 ===================	 ===================

Balance at 1 January 2018		  8,735,160	 -	 8,370,075	 1,143,127	 18,248,362
		  -------------------------------	 ------------------------------------	 ------------------------------------	 ------------------------------------	 -----------------------------------

Profit for the financial year		   -	  -	 -	 382,804	  382,804		
	
Other comprehensive loss
for the year		  -	     -	 (149,838)	 -	  (149,838)
 		  --------------------------------	 ------------------------------------	 ------------------------------------	 ------------------------------------	 -----------------------------------
Total comprehensive (loss)/gain
for the year		  -	 -	 (149,838)	 382,804	 232,966
 		  --------------------------------	 ------------------------------------	 ------------------------------------	 ------------------------------------	 -----------------------------------

Increment in value of 	
in-force business,
transferred to other reserves 		  -	 -	 1,468,461  	 (1,468,461)  	 -

 		  --------------------------------	 ------------------------------------	 ------------------------------------	 ------------------------------------	 -----------------------------------
		   -	  -	 1,468,461  	 (1,468,461)  	 -
 		  ------------------------------------	 ------------------------------------	 ------------------------------------	 ------------------------------------	 -----------------------------------

Balance at 31 December 2018		  8,735,160	 -	 9,688,698	 57,470	 18,481,328
 		  =====================	 =====================	 ===================	 =====================	 ====================

Company
		  Share		
 	 Share	 premium	 Accumulated	
 	 capital	 account	 losses	 Total
 	 €	 €	 €	 €
 				  
Balance at 1 January 2017	 8,735,160  	 16,970,641	 (30,417,321)	 (4,711,520)
				  
Loss for the financial year/total 
comprehensive loss for the year	 -	 - 	 (929,893)	 (929,893)

Set-off of share premium
against accumulated losses	 -	 (16,970,641)	 16,970,641	 -
	 ----------------------------	 ---------------------------------	 ---------------------------------	 -----------------------------
Balance at 31 December 2017	 8,735,160  	 -	 (14,376,573)	 (5,641,413)
 	 =================	 ====================	 ====================	 =================

Balance at 1 January 2018	 8,735,160  	 -	 (14,376,573)	 (5,641,413)
				  
Loss for the financial year/total 
comprehensive loss for the year	 -	 -	 (868,003)	 (868,003)

	 ---------------------------	 ---------------------------------	 ---------------------------------	 ---------------------------------
Balance at 31 December 2018	 8,735,160  	 -	 (15,244,576)	 (6,509,416)
 	 ==============	 =================	 =================	 =           ================
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Statements of cash flows 
Year ended 31 December

	 Group	 Company	
 	 Notes	 2018	 2017	 2018	 2017
 	 	  €	 €	 €	 €

Cash generated from/(used in) operations 	 24  	 4,429,530	 9,139,452	 (28,606)	 339,342
Dividends received	 	  361,994	 209,873	 -	 - 
Interest received	 	  2,033,172	 1,939,307	 -	 -
Interest paid	 	  (495,000)	 (493,151)	 (495,000)	 (493,151)
Tax paid	 	  (378,748)	 (129,867)	 -	 - 
 	 	  ————————	 ————————	 ———————	 ——————
Net cash generated from/(used in)	 	 	 	 	     
operating activities	 	  5,950,948	 10,665,614	 (523,606)	 (153,809)
 	 	  ————————	 ————————	 ———————	 ——————
Cash flows used in investing activities 	  	 	   	 

Purchase of intangible assets	 11  	 (62,144)	 (227,766)	 -	 -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 	 13  	 (21,241)	 (162,485)	 (4,586)	 -
Purchase of investment property 	 14  	 (18,043)	 (91,485)	 -	 -
Purchase of financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss	 16	 (11,850,149)	 (27,048,966)	  -	 -
Purchase of financial assets at
available-for-sale	 16	 (1,736,280)	 (81,096)	 -	 -
Proceeds on maturity of held-to-maturity 
investments	 16	 -	 785,860	 -	  -
Proceeds from disposal of investments 
at fair value through profit or loss	   16	 10,600,689	 8,566,482	 -	 -
Proceeds from disposal of 
available-for-sale financial assets	 	  365,621	 766	 -	 -	  
Proceeds from disposal of 
held-to-maturity investments	 	  -	 5,505,347	 -	 -
Net proceeds on other investments	 		    
-loans and receivables 	 16  	 (2,950,003)	 (1,971,713)	 -	 -
 	 	  ————————	 ————————	 —————	 —————
Net cash used in investing activities	 	  (5,671,550)	 (14,725,056)	 (4,586)	 -
 	 	  ————————	 ————————	 —————	 —————
 	 	   	 	   	 
Cash flows generated from	  	  	 	   	 
financing activities	  	  	 	   	 
Proceeds from shareholder		  500,000	 -	 500,000	 - 
 	 	  ———————	 ————————	 ———————	 —————
Net cash generated from	 	 	 	 	     
financing activities	 	  500,000	 -	 500,000	 - 
 	 	  ————————	 ————————	 ———————	 —————

Movement in cash and cash equivalents 	  	 779,398	 (4,059,442)	 (28,192)	 (153,809) 
 	 	 	 	 	     
Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of year 	  	 10,250,424	 14,309,866	 309,297	 463,106 
 	 	  ————————	 ————————	 ———————	 —————
Cash and cash equivalents at the 
end of year 	 25  	 11,029,822	 10,250,424	 281,105	 309,297 
 	  	 =====================	 ==================	 ==================	 ==================
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Accounting policies
	
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These 
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented.

1.	 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”). 
The Group is primarily involved in the carrying on of long term business of insurance under the Insurance 
Business Act (Cap. 403), acting as an agent for sickness and accident insurance in terms of the Insurance 
Distribution Act (Cap. 487), the provision of investment services and advice in terms of the Investment Services 
Act (Cap. 370), and the provision on behalf of Group undertakings of property management and consultancy 
services, including property acquisitions, disposals and development projects.

The Directors are satisfied that, having taken into account the Group’s current and forecasted statement of 
financial position, its capital adequacy and cash flows, it is reasonable to assume that the Company and the 
Group have adequate resources to continue operating for the foreseeable future. Accordingly the Directors 
continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the EU (EU IFRSs), and with the Companies Act (Cap. 386). The consolidated financial statements 
include the financial statements of GlobalCapital p.l.c. and its subsidiary undertakings. They also comply with 
the requirements of the Insurance Business Act (Cap. 403), the Investment Services Act (Cap. 370), and the 
Insurance Distribution Act (Cap. 487) in consolidating the results of GlobalCapital Life Insurance Limited, 
GlobalCapital Health Insurance Agency, and GlobalCapital Financial Management where appropriate. The 
financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the fair valuation of 
investment property, financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, available for sale 
investments and the value of in-force business.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. 

For financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the 
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to 
the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

- 	 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 
entity can access at the measurement date;

- 	 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset 
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

- 	 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements at fair value on a recurring basis, 
the Group and the Company determine when transfers are deemed to have occurred between Levels in the 
hierarchy at the end of each reporting period.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with EU IFRSs requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise their judgement in the process of applying 
the Group’s and the company’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement and 
estimates or complexity are disclosed in Note 1 to these financial statements.

The statements of financial position are presented in increasing order of liquidity, with additional disclosures 
on the current or non-current nature of the assets and liabilities provided within the notes to the financial 
statements.

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards as endorsed by the EU that are effective 
in the current year

Several new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards apply for the first time in 2018, 
the adoption of which to the requirements of IFRSs as adopted by the EU, with the exception of the below 
pronouncements, did not result in substantial changes to the Group’s accounting policies and did not impact 
the financial statements.

IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’

IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’, was issued in May 2014 and establishes a new five-step 
model that will apply to revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under IFRS 15 revenue is recognized at 
an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring 
goods or services to a customer. The principles in IFRS 15 provide a more structured approach to measuring 
and recognizing revenue. The new revenue standard is applicable to all entities and supersedes all current 
revenue recognition requirements under IFRS. Management has considered the impact of the standard on 
the Group’s financial results and position, and it was concluded that adoption of the Standard did not have a 
material impact. The main reason is that most of the Group’s business and activities relates to life insurance 
business which is scoped out of IFRS 15. Furthermore, with respect to the insurance agency the commission 
rate received on both initial and renewed business is the same and thus, there is no change in the recognition 
of revenue under this new standard when compared to the previous revenue standard, IAS 18. In respect to 
the advisory fees earned in the financial management company, IFRS 15 impacts the recognition of the trailer 
fees with respect to business arising from existing customers. As the revenue from the financial management 
company has been decreasing on a year-to-year basis, the application of IFRS 15 of the revenue recognition 
procedures is considered to have a not material effect on the Group financial performance and position. 

IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’

IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’, addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of financial assets 
and financial liabilities. It replaces the guidance in IAS 39 that relates to the classification and measurement 
of financial instruments. IFRS 9 retains but simplifies the mixed measurement model and establishes three 
primary measurement categories for financial assets: amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive 
income and fair value through profit or loss. The basis of classification depends on the entity’s business model 
and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. Investments in equity instruments are 
required to be measured at fair value through profit or loss with the irrevocable option at inception to present 
changes in fair value in OCI not recycling.

The new expected credit losses model replaces the incurred loss impairment model used in IAS 39. For financial 
liabilities there were no changes to classification and measurement except for the recognition of changes in 
own credit risk in other comprehensive income, for liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss. 

IFRS 9 is generally effective for years beginning on or after 1 January 2018. However in September 2016, the 
IASB issued amendments to IFRS 4 which provide optional relief to eligible insurers in respect of IFRS 9. The 
options permit entities whose predominant activity is issuing insurance contracts within the scope of IFRS 4, a 
temporary exemption to defer the implementation of IFRS 9.

Entities that apply the optional temporary relief were initially required to adopt IFRS 9 on annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2021. However on 14 November 2018, the IASB deferred both the effective 
date of IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the expiry date for the optional relief in respect of IFRS 9 by one year. 
Therefore, entities that apply the optional temporary relief will be required to adopt IFRS 9 on 1 January 2022 
which aligns with the new effective date of IFRS 17. 

Given that most of the Group’s main business and activity relates to life insurance as manifested in the 
consolidated balance sheet assets and liabilities, the Group has evaluated its liabilities as at 31 December 2015, 
the prescribed date of assessment under the optional temporary relief provisions to the determine whether on 
a consolidated basis the Group can apply this exemption. At 31 December 2015 the Group concluded that its 
liabilities are predominately connected with insurance. In fact 81% of the total liabilities relates to the insurance 
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business that is being written by the life company.  The Directors have also concluded that the main company 
within the Group is the GlobalCapital Life Insurance Limited and thus, the Group does not engage in other 
significant activities unconnected with insurance. 

Following, the evaluation of the prescribed date of assessment, the Group has further focused its energy and 
commitment towards the company that writes insurance business. The Directors believe that one of the main 
drivers in respect of the Group’s shareholder value is the life portfolio business written by GlobalCapital Life 
Insurance Limited. Furthermore, following the restructuring that took place in 2016 and 2017, following the 
change in the main shareholder of the Group, a reassessment was deemed to be relevant in order to assess 
whether the temporary exemption of the aforementioned prescribed date of assessment is still relevant. The 
Directors concluded that the Group’s insurance liabilities compared to the Group’s total liabilities as at 31 
December 2017 stood at 87%. Furthermore, the carrying amount of the liability arising from contracts within 
the scope of IFRS 4 is significant compared to the total carrying amount of the Group’s liabilities. 

Thus, the Directors have concluded that the temporary exemption of IFRS 9 also applies to the Group on a 
consolidated basis in line with the aforementioned arguments listed above.

Further to the above, the Group has not previously applied any version of IFRS 9. Therefore the Group is an 
eligible insurer that qualifies for optional relief from the application of IFRS 9. As at 1 January 2018, the Group 
has elected to apply the optional temporary relief under IFRS 4 that permits the deferral of the adoption of 
IFRS 9 for eligible insurers. The Group will continue to apply IAS 39 until 1 January 2022.

Standards issued, endorsed by the EU but not yet effective and not early adopted

Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published by the date 
of authorization for issue of these financial statements, but are mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The Group has not early adopted these revisions to the requirements 
of IFRSs as adopted by the EU, and the Group’s Directors are of the opinion that, with the exception of the 
below pronouncements, there are no requirements that will have a possible significant on the Group’s financial 
statements in the period of initial application.

IFRS 16, ‘Leases’
		
IFRS 16, ‘Leases’, as adopted by the EU, brings most leases on-balance sheet for lessees under a single 
model, eliminating the distinction between operating and finance leases. Lessor accounting however remains 
substantially unchanged (except for a requirement to provide enhanced disclosures) and the distinction 
between operating and finance leases is retained. IFRS 16 supersedes IAS 17 and related interpretations. IFRS 
16 is effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Early application is permitted for companies that 
also apply IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Based on the information currently available, the 
Group has carried out a preliminary impact assessment, which indicates that the adoption of the Standard will 
not have a significant impact given the limited operating leases the Group and the Company have.  

IFRS 17, ‘Insurance contracts’

IFRS 17, ‘Insurance contracts’ establishes the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and 
disclosure of insurance contracts within the scope of the standard. The objective of IFRS 17 is to ensure that an 
entity provides relevant information that faithfully represents those contracts. This information gives a basis 
for users of financial statements to assess the effect that insurance contracts have on the entity’s financial 
position, financial performance and cash flows. IFRS 17 was issued in May 2017 and applies to annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. IFRS 17 is not yet endorsed by the EU. The Group’s Directors are 
assessing the potential impact, if any, of the above IFRS on the financial statements of the Group in the period 
of initial application. 

2.	 Consolidation

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an investee when the Group 
is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power over the investee. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that 
are when those rights give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities are considered when 
assessing whether the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on 
which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. 
The consideration is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities 
incurred or assumed at the date of exchange. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. Acquisition related costs are 
recognised in the profit and loss as incurred, except for costs to issue debt or equity securities.

Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an asset at the date that control is acquired. 
Goodwill is measured as the excess of:

a.	 The aggregate of:
(i)	 the consideration transferred; 
(ii)	 the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree; and
(iii)	 	     in a business combination achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair 
              value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree.  

b.	 The net of the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.

Any gain on a bargain purchase, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are 
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment 
of the asset transferred.  Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. A listing of the Group’s principal subsidiaries is set out in 
Note 15.

3.	 Intangible assets

(a)	 Goodwill 

Goodwill on acquisition of group undertakings is included in intangible assets. Goodwill is tested at least 
annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-
generating units for the purpose of impairment testing.

(b)	 Value of in-force business

On acquisition of a portfolio of long term contracts, the net present value of the Shareholders’ interest in 
the expected after-tax cash flows of the in-force business is capitalised in the statement of financial position 
as an asset. The value of in-force business is subsequently determined by the Directors on an annual basis, 
based on the advice of the approved actuary. The valuation represents the discounted value of projected 
future transfers to Shareholders from policies in force at the year-end, after making provision for taxation. In 
determining this valuation, assumptions relating to future mortality, persistence and levels of expenses are 
based on experience of the type of business concerned. Gross investment returns assumed vary depending on 
the mix of investments held and expected market conditions.  All movements in the in-force business valuation 
are credited or debited to the profit or loss. They are subsequently transferred out of retained earnings to other 
reserves.
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(c)	 Computer software

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to 
use the specific software. These costs are amortised using the straight-line method over their estimated useful 
lives (thirteen years). Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an 
expense as incurred.

4.	 Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method for temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying values for financial reporting purposes. 
Currently enacted tax rates or those that are substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period are used 
in the determination of deferred income tax.

Deferred income tax related to the fair value re-measurement of investments is allocated between the technical 
and non-technical account depending on whether the temporary differences are attributed to policyholders or 
shareholders respectively.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that future taxable profit will be available such that 
realisation of the related tax benefit is probable.

5.	 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, comprising land and buildings, office furniture and fittings and equipment, 
are initially recorded at cost and are subsequently shown at cost less depreciation and impairment losses. 
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Subsequent 
costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount, or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when 
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group, and the cost of the 
item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the profit or loss during the 
financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of the assets to their residual 
values over their estimated useful lives as follows:

											                    %

		  Buildings 								                  2
		  Office furniture, fittings and equipment					     20 - 25

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting 
period.

Property, plant and equipment are derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 
from their use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition represent the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount, and are included in profit or loss in the period of 
derecognition.

6.	 Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale
	
	 Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered 

principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only 
when the sale is highly probable and the asset or disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present 
condition. Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition 
as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification. Non-current assets and disposal groups 
classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of the assets’ previous carrying amount and fair value 
less costs to sell. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. Non-current assets are not depreciated (or 
amortised) while they are classified as held for sale or while they are part of a disposal group classified as held 
for sale.

7.	 Investment properties

Freehold and leasehold properties treated as investments principally comprise buildings that are held for long 
term rental yields or capital appreciation or both, and that are not occupied by the Group. Investment properties 
are initially measured at cost including related transaction costs.  Investment properties are subsequently 
carried at fair value, representing open market value determined annually by external valuers, or by virtue of a 
Directors’ valuation. Fair value is based on active market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the 
nature, location or condition of the specific asset. 

If this information is not available, the Group uses alternative valuation methods such as recent prices on less 
active markets or discounted cash flow projections. The fair value of investment properties reflects, among 
other things, rental income from current leases and assumptions about rental income from future leases in the 
light of current market conditions.

Subsequent expenditure is charged to the asset’s carrying amount only when it is probable that future economic 
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All 
other repairs and maintenance costs are charged to the profit or loss during the financial period in which 
they are incurred. Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in fair value (net of deferred taxation) are 
recognised in the profit or loss.

8.	 Investment in group undertakings

In the Company’s financial statements, shares in group undertakings are accounted for by the cost method of 
accounting, net of impairment loss. The Company gathers objective evidence that an investment is impaired 
using the same process adopted for financial assets held at amortised cost and available-for-sale assets. These 
processes include but are not limited to those disclosed in accounting policy 10(a). The impairment loss is 
measured in accordance with accounting policy 10(b). On disposal of an investment, the difference between 
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is charged or credited to the profit or loss.  

The dividend income from such investments is included in profit or loss in the accounting year in which the 
Company’s right to receive payment of any dividend is established.

9.	 Other financial assets 

	 Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value 
plus directly attributable transaction costs for all financial assets or financial liabilities not classified at fair value 
through profit or loss.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets expire 
or when the entity transfers the financial asset and the transfer qualifies for derecognition.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished. This occurs when the obligation specified in 
the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.
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An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the company after 
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

	 (i)	 Trade receivables

	 Trade receivables are classified with current assets and are stated at their nominal value.

(ii)	 Investments

The Group classifies its other financial assets in the following categories: financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity investments, loans and receivables and available-for-
sale financial assets. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were 
acquired. The Directors determine the appropriate classification of the Group’s financial assets at initial 
recognition, and re-evaluate such designation at every reporting date.

(a)	 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading and those designated at 
fair value through profit or loss at inception. A non-derivative financial asset is classified into this 
category at inception if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near-term, if it forms 
part of a portfolio of financial assets that are managed together and for which there is evidence of 
short term profit-taking, if the financial asset is part of a group of financial assets that is managed 
on a portfolio basis and whose performance is evaluated and reported internally to the Group’s 
key management personnel on a fair value basis in accordance with a documented financial assets 
strategy or if this designation eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that 
would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on 
them on different bases. 

(b)	 Held-to-maturity investments

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity that the 
Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity other than those that upon initial 
recognition are designated as at fair value through profit or loss, those that are designated as 
available-for-sale financial assets and those that meet the definition of loans and receivables are 
classified as held-to-maturity investments.  

(c)	 Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market, other than those that are held for trading or that are designated 
as at fair value through profit or loss or as available for sale or those for which the Group may not 
recover substantially all of its investment other than because of credit deterioration. They include, 
inter alia, receivables, interest bearing deposits and advances.

(d)	 Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are either 
designated in this category by the Group or not classified as loans and receivables, held-to-maturity 
investments or financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

All purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, which is the date that the 
Group commits to purchase or sell the assets. All financial assets are initially recognised at fair value, 
plus in the case of financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that 
are directly attributable to their acquisition. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive 
cash flows from the financial assets have expired or where they have been transferred and the transfer 
qualifies for de-recognition. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently re-measured at fair value.  Held-
to-maturity investments and loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method unless the effect of discounting is immaterial, less any provision for impairment. Gains 
or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss’ category are presented in profit or loss.  Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at their 
fair value. Gains and losses arising from a change in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive 
income, except for impairment losses and foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary assets, until 
the financial asset is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment. 
Interest calculated using the effective interest method is recognised in profit or loss.

The fair value of quoted financial assets is based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting 
period. If the market for a financial asset is not active (and for unlisted securities), the Group establishes 
fair value by using valuation techniques. These include the use of recent arm’s length transactions, 
reference to other instruments that are substantially the same and discounted cash flow analysis.  
Investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market, and 
whose fair value cannot be reliably measured, shall not be designated as at fair value through profit 
or loss.  The fair value of investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted price in an 
active market for an identical instrument is reliably measurable if (a) the variability in the range of 
reasonable fair value measurements is not significant for that instrument; or (b) the probabilities of the 
various estimates within the range can be reasonably assessed and used when measuring fair value.  
Investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted price in an active market and whose fair 
value cannot be reliably measured shall be measured at cost.  

Investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market, and 
whose fair value cannot be reliably measured, shall not be designated as at fair value through profit 
or loss.  The fair value of investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted price in an 
active market for an identical instrument is reliably measurable if (a) the variability in the range of 
reasonable fair value measurements is not significant for that instrument; or (b) the probabilities of the 
various estimates within the range can be reasonably assessed and used when measuring fair value.  
Investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted price in an active market and whose fair 
value cannot be reliably measured shall be measured at cost.  

(iii)	 Trade payables

Trade payables are classified with current liabilities and are stated at their nominal value.

10.	 Impairment of assets

(a)	 Impairment of financial assets at amortised cost and available-for-sale investments

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial 
asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired and 
impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more 
events that have occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (“a loss event”) and that loss event (or 
events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that 
can be reliably estimated.

Objective evidence that a financial asset or group of assets is impaired includes observable data that comes to 
the attention of the Group about the following events:

(i)	 significant financial difficulty of the issuer or debtor;
(ii)	 a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in payments;
(iii)	 it becoming probable that the issuer or debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; and
(iv)	 observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flow from a 

group of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet be 
identified with the individual financial assets in the group.
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In addition to the above loss events, objective evidence of impairment for an investment in an equity 
instrument includes information about significant changes with an adverse effect that have taken place in the 
technological, market, economic or legal environment in which the issuer operates, and indicates that the cost 
of the investment in the equity instrument may not be recovered and/or a significant or prolonged decline in 
the fair value of an investment in an equity instrument below its cost.

For financial assets at amortised cost, the Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment 
exists for financial assets that are individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of 
impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in 
a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. 
Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be 
recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred on financial assets carried at amortised 
cost, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. 
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the 
loss is recognised in the profit or loss.

If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as improved credit rating), the 
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The amount of the 
reversal is recognised in the profit or loss.

When a decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale financial asset has been recognised in other 
comprehensive income and there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, the cumulative impairment 
loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as 
a reclassification adjustment and is measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and current fair 
value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss for an available-for-sale investment in an equity instrument 
are not reversed through profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss for an available-for-
sale investment in a debt instrument are reversed through profit or loss if an increase in the fair value of the 
instrument can be objectively related to an event occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss.

(b)	 Impairment of other financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the carrying amount of other financial assets is reviewed to determine 
whether there is an indication of impairment and if any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the 
asset is estimated. An impairment loss is the amount by which the amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less the costs to sell and value in use. Impairment 
losses and reversals are recognised in profit or loss.

(c)	 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to amortisation or depreciation, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable, principally comprise 
property, plant and equipment and computer software. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by 
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount is the higher of 
an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are 
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). 
An impairment loss recognised in a prior year is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. Impairment losses 
and reversals are recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries is tested for impairment at least annually. Goodwill is allocated 
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Where 
the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss 
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period. 

11.	 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position only 
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on 
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

12.	 Property held for development

When the main object of a property project is the development for resale purposes, the asset is classified in 
the financial statements as property held for development. The development property is carried at the lower of 
cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises the purchase cost of acquiring the property together with other 
costs incurred during its subsequent development including:

	 (i)	 The costs incurred on development works, including demolition, site clearance, excavation, 
construction, etc.

(ii)	 The cost of various design and other studies conducted in connection with the project, together 
with all other expenses incurred in connection therewith.

(iii)	 Any borrowing costs attributable to the development phases of the project.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the costs of completion 
and selling expenses.

13.	 Insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF

(a)	 Classification

Insurance contracts are those contracts that transfer significant insurance risk. Such contracts may also transfer 
financial risk. As a general guideline, the Group defines as significant insurance risk the possibility of having to 
pay benefits on the occurrence of an insured event that are at least 10% more than the benefits payable if 
the insured event did not occur. Investment contracts are those contracts that transfer financial risk with no 
significant insurance risk.

A number of insurance and investment contracts contain a DPF (“Discretionary participation feature”). This 
feature entitles the holder to receive, as a supplement to guaranteed benefits, additional benefits or bonuses:

-	 that are likely to be a significant portion of the total contractual benefits;
-	 whose amount or timing is contractually at the discretion of the Group; and
-	 that are based on realised and/or unrealised investment returns on underlying assets held by the Group.

Local statutory regulations and the terms and conditions of these contracts set out the bases for the 
determination of the amounts on which the additional discretionary benefits are based (the DPF eligible 
surplus), and within which the Group may exercise its discretion as to the quantum and timing of their payment 
to contract holders, also considering the advice of the approved actuary.

(b)	 Recognition and measurement

Insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF are categorised depending on the duration of risk and 
whether or not the terms and conditions are fixed.
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Short term insurance contracts

These contracts are short duration life insurance contracts. They protect the Group’s customers from the 
consequences of events (such as death or disability) that would affect the ability of the customer or his/her 
dependants to maintain their current level of income.  Guaranteed benefits paid on occurrence of the specified 
insurance event are either fixed or linked to the extent of the economic loss suffered by the policyholder. There 
are no maturity or surrender benefits under these insurance contracts.

Insurance contracts without DPF

These contracts insure events associated with human life (mainly for death) over a long and fixed duration. The 
guaranteed and fixed element for these contracts relates to the sum assured, i.e. the benefit payable on death.

Premiums are recognised as revenue when they become payable by the contract holder. Premiums are shown 
before deduction of commission, and are inclusive of policy fees receivable.

Insurance contracts with DPF

In addition to the guaranteed amount payable on death, these products combine a savings element whereby 
a portion of the premium receivable, and declared returns, are accumulated for the benefit of the policyholder.  
Annual returns may combine a guaranteed rate of return and a discretionary element.  

Premiums are recognised as revenue when they become payable by the contract holder. Premiums are shown 
before deduction of commission, and are inclusive of policy fees receivable.

Investment contracts with DPF

These long term contracts are substantially savings products since they do not transfer significant insurance 
risk. Annual returns may combine a guaranteed rate of return and a discretionary element.

The Group does not recognise the guaranteed element separately from the DPF for any of the contracts that it 
issues. As permitted by IFRS 4, it continues to apply accounting policies existing prior to this standard in respect 
of such contracts, further summarised as follows:

(i)	 Premiums are recognised as revenue when they are paid and allocated to the respective policy 
account value.  Premiums are shown before deduction of commission, and are inclusive of policy 
fees receivable.

(ii)	 Maturity claims are charged against revenue when due for payment. Surrenders are accounted for 
when paid or, if earlier, on the date when the policy ceases to be included within the calculation 
of the liability. Death claims and all other claims are accounted for when notified. Claims payable 
include related internal and external claims handling costs.  

(iii)	 Bonuses charged to the long term business technical account in a given year comprise:

(a)	 new reversionary bonuses declared in respect of that year, which are provided within the 
calculation of the respective liability;

(b)	 terminal bonuses paid out to policyholders on maturity and included within claims paid; and

(c)	 terminal bonuses accrued at the Group’s discretion, and included within the respective liability.

(iv)	 A liability for long term contractual benefits that are expected to be incurred in the future is recorded 
when premiums are recognised. This liability is determined by the approved actuary following his 
annual investigation of the financial condition of the Group’s long term business as required under 
the Insurance Business Act (Cap. 403). It is calculated in accordance with the relevant legislation 
governing the determination of liabilities for the purposes of statutory solvency. The calculation 
uses a prospective valuation method, unless a retrospective calculation results in a higher liability, 
and makes explicit provision for vested reversionary bonuses. Provision is also made, explicitly or 
implicitly, for future reversionary bonuses. The prospective method is determined as the sum of the 
expected discounted value of the benefit payments and the future administration expenses that 
are directly related to the contract, less the expected discounted value of the theoretical premiums 
that would be required to meet the benefits and administration expenses based on the valuation 
assumptions used. The liability is based on assumptions as to mortality, maintenance expenses 
and investment income that are established at the time the contract is issued, subject to solvency 
restrictions set out in the Insurance Business Act (Cap. 403). The retrospective method is based on 
the insurance premium credited to the policyholder’s account, together with explicit provision for 
vested bonuses accruing as at the end of the reporting period, and adjustment for mortality risk and 
other benefits.

This long term liability is recalculated at the end of each reporting period. The above method of 
calculation satisfies the minimum liability adequacy test required by IFRS 4. The liability in respect 
of short term insurance contracts is based on statistical analysis for the claims incurred but not 
reported, estimates of the expected ultimate cost of more complex claims that may be effected by 
external factors (such as court decisions), and further includes the portion of premiums received on 
in-force contracts that relate to unexpired risks at the end of the reporting period.

(c)	 Reinsurance contracts held

Contracts entered into by the Group with reinsurers under which the Group is compensated for losses on 
one or more contracts issued by the Group and that meet the classification requirements for insurance 
contracts in accounting policy 13(a) are classified as reinsurance contracts held.  Contracts that do not meet 
the classification requirements are classified as financial assets. The benefits to which the Group is entitled 
under its reinsurance contracts held are recognised as reinsurers’ share of technical provisions or receivables 
from reinsurers (unless netted off against amounts payable to reinsurers). These assets consist of short term 
balances due from reinsurers (classified within receivables), as well as longer term receivables (classified as 
reinsurers’ share of technical provisions) that are dependent on the expected claims and benefits arising 
under the related reinsured insurance contracts. Reinsurance liabilities are primarily premiums payable for 
reinsurance contracts and are recognised as an expense when due.

The Group assesses its reinsurance assets for impairment on an annual basis. If there is objective evidence 
that the reinsurance asset is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount of the reinsurance asset to its 
recoverable amount and recognises that impairment loss in the profit or loss. The Group gathers objective 
evidence that a reinsurance asset is impaired using the same process adopted for financial assets held at 
amortised cost. The impairment loss is also calculated following the same method used for these financial 
assets. These processes are described in accounting policy 10(a).

(d)	 Receivables and payables related to insurance contracts

Receivables and payables are recognised when due. These include amounts due to and from agents, brokers 
and policyholders. If there is objective evidence that the insurance receivable is impaired, the Group reduces 
the carrying amount of the insurance receivable accordingly and recognises that impairment loss in the profit 
or loss in a similar manner to the process described above for reinsurance contracts held (also see accounting 
policy 10(a)).
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14. 	 Investments contracts without DPF

The Group issues investment contracts without DPF. Premium arising on these contracts is classified as a 
financial liability – investment contracts without DPF. Investment contracts without fixed terms are financial 
liabilities whose fair value is dependent on the fair value of underlying financial assets, and are designated at 
inception as at fair value through profit or loss. The fair value of a unit linked financial liability is determined 
using the current unit values that reflect the fair values of the financial assets linked to the financial liability 
multiplied by the number of units attributed to the contract holder at the end of the reporting period. If the 
investment contract is subject to a surrender option, the fair value of the financial liability is never less than 
the amount payable on surrender, where applicable. Other benefits payable are also accrued as appropriate. 

15.	 Cash and cash equivalents

	 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and demand deposits, together with short-term, highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash, and that are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value. For the purposes of the statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise 
cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and time deposits maturing within three months (unless these are 
held specifically for investment purposes) and are net of the bank overdraft, which is included with liabilities.

16.	 Borrowings 

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption 
value is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. Trade 
payables are stated at their nominal value unless the effect of discounting is material.

	 Borrowing costs are capitalised within property held for development in so far as they relate to the specific 
external financing of assets under development. Such borrowing costs are capitalised during the development 
phase of the project. Other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the year to which they relate.

17.	 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are 
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.  

18.	 Dividend distribution

	 Dividend distribution to the Company’s Shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Company’s financial 
statements in the period in which the dividends are declared.

19.	 Fiduciary activities

	 Client monies are held by the Group as a result of clients’ trades that have not yet been fulfilled.  They are not 
included in the financial statements as these assets are held in a fiduciary capacity.

20.	 Provisions 

	 Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 

events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable esti-
mate of the amount of the obligation can be made. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected 
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost.

21.	 Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services are transferred 
to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in ex-
change for those goods or services. Revenue also includes interest, dividend and rental income. The following 
specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

(a)	 Rendering of services

Premium recognition dealing with insurance contracts and investments contracts with DPF is described in 
accounting policy 13. Revenue arising from the issue of investment contracts without DPF is recognised in the 
accounting period in which the services are rendered.

Other turnover arising on rendering of services represents commission, consultancy and advisory fees receiv-
able in respect of the Group’s activities in providing insurance agency, brokerage or investment services. Reve-
nues are recognised in the financial statements in line with fulfilment of the performance obligations.

(b)	 Sale of property held for development

Revenue from the sale of property held for development is recognised when the significant risks and rewards 
of ownership of property being sold are effectively transferred to the buyer. This is generally considered to 
occur at the later of the date of contract of sale and the date when all the Company’s obligations relating to 
the property are completed and the possession of the property can be transferred in the manner stipulated by 
the contract of sale. Amounts received in respect of sales that have not yet been recognised in the financial 
statements, due to the fact that the significant risks and rewards of ownership still rest with the Company, are 
treated as deposits on contracts and are included with payables.

	 (c)	 Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. 

	 (d)	 Interest income

	 Interest income from financial assets not classified as fair value through profit or loss is recognised using the 
effective interest method.  

22.	 Foreign currencies

(a)	 Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated 
financial statements are presented in Euro, which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency. 

(b)	 Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the 
date of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions 
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised in the profit or loss. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies 
other than the functional currency that are measured at fair value are re-translated using the exchange rate 
ruling on the date the fair value was measured. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies 
other than the functional currency that are measured in terms of historical cost are not re-translated. Exchange 
differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss 
for the period, except for differences arising on the re-translation of non-monetary items in respect of which 
gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income. For such non-monetary items, any exchange 
component of that gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income.  
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23.	 Investment return

	 The total investment return in the notes includes dividend income, net fair value movements on financial as-
sets at fair value through profit or loss (including interest income from financial assets classified as fair value 
through profit or loss), interest income from financial assets not classified as fair value through profit or loss, 
rental receivable and net fair value movements on investment property and is net of investment expenses, 
charges and interest.

The investment return is allocated between the insurance technical account and the non-technical account on 
the basis of the investment return as recommended by the approved actuary.

24.	 Employee benefits

	 The Company and the Group contribute towards the state pension in accordance with local legislation. The 
only obligation is to make the required contributions. Costs are expensed in the period in which they are in-
curred. 

25.	 Current tax 

	 Current tax is charged or credited to profit or loss except when it relates to items recognised in other compre-
hensive income or directly in equity. The charge/credit for current tax is based on the taxable result for the 
period. The taxable result for the period differs from the result as reported in profit or loss because it excludes 
items which are non-assessable or disallowed and it further excludes items which are taxable or deductible in 
other periods. It is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 
reporting period.
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Notes to the financial statements
1.	 Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, 
by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.  Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and 
based on historical experience and other factors including expectations of future events that are believed to 
be reasonable under the circumstances.

In the opinion of the Directors, the accounting estimates and judgements made in the course of preparing 
these financial statements are not difficult, subjective or complex to a degree which would warrant their 
description as critical in terms of the requirements of IAS 1, unless further described below.

(a)	 Fair valuation of investment properties

The determination of the fair value of investment properties at the end of the reporting period requires the use 
of significant management estimates.  

Fair valuation of Baronial Castle in Italy

The Group’s investment property includes a Baronial Castle situated outside of Rome. Given the 
specialised nature of this property the uncertainties in the estimation of its fair value are inherently 
more significant than for the remaining portfolio of investment property.  

Details of the valuation methodology and key assumptions of investment property classified as Level 3 are 
disclosed in Note 14 to the financial statements. 

(b)	 Value of in-force business

	The value of in-force business is a projection of future Shareholders’ profit expected from insurance policies in 
force at the year-end, appropriately discounted and adjusted for the effect of taxation. This valuation requires 
the use of assumptions relating to future mortality, persistence, levels of expenses and investment returns over 
the longer term (see accounting policy 3(b)). Details of key assumptions and sensitivity for this intangible asset 
are provided in Note 11 to the financial statements.   

(c)	 Technical provisions

The Group’s technical provisions at year-end are determined in accordance with accounting policy 13. Details of 
key assumptions and sensitivities to the valuation are disclosed in Note 17 to the financial statements. 

(d)	 Recognition of deferred tax asset 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary 
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which these deferred 
tax assets can be utilised. Significant management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred 
tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together 
with future tax planning strategies. The carrying value of recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets is 
disclosed in Note 12. 

2.	 Management of insurance and financial risk

The Group holds or issues contracts that transfer insurance risk or financial risk or both. This section 
summarises these risks and the way the Group manages them. The Group’s risk management strategy has 
remained unchanged from the prior year.

Insurance risk 

The risk under any one insurance contract is the possibility that the insured event occurs and the uncertainty 
of the amount and timing of the resulting claim. By the very nature of an insurance contract, this risk is random 
and therefore unpredictable.

For a portfolio of insurance contracts where the theory of probability is applied to pricing and provisioning, the 
principal risk that the Group faces under its insurance contracts is that the actual claims and benefit payments 
exceed the carrying amount of the insurance liabilities. This could occur because the frequency or severity 
of claims and benefits are greater than estimated.  Insurance events are random and the actual number 
and amount of claims and benefits will vary from year to year from the estimate established using statistical 
techniques.

Experience shows that the larger the portfolio of similar insurance contracts, the smaller the relative variability 
about the expected outcome will be.  In addition, a more diversified portfolio is less likely to be affected across 
the board by a change in any subset of the portfolio. The Group has developed its insurance underwriting 
strategy to diversify the type of insurance risk accepted and within each of these categories to achieve a 
sufficiently large population of risks to reduce the variability of the expected outcome. Factors that aggravate 
insurance risk include lack of risk diversification in terms of type and amount of risk and geographical location.

(a)	 Frequency and severity of claims

For contracts where death is the insured risk, the most significant factors that could increase the overall 
frequency of claims are epidemics or wide spread changes in lifestyle, resulting in earlier or more claims than 
expected.

At present, these risks do not vary significantly in relation to the location of the risk insured by the Group. 
However, undue concentration by amounts could have an impact on the severity of benefit payments on a 
portfolio basis.

For contracts with fixed and guaranteed benefits and fixed future premiums, there are no mitigating terms and 
conditions that reduce the insurance risk accepted. Investment contracts with DPF (“Discretionary participation 
feature”) carry negligible insurance risk.  

The Group manages these risks through its underwriting strategy and reinsurance agreements.  The 
underwriting strategy is intended to ensure that the risks underwritten are well diversified in terms of type of 
risk and the level of insured benefits. Medical selection is also included in the Group’s underwriting procedures 
with premiums varied to reflect the health condition and lifestyle of the applicants.  

The Group has retention limits on any single life assured for term business or risk premium business. The 
Group reinsures the excess of the insured benefits over approved retention limits under a treaty reinsurance 
arrangement. Facultative reinsurance is selectively sought for non-standard risks that are not covered by the 
treaty reinsurance arrangement where the Group has decided to accept the insurance risk. Short term insurance 
contracts are also protected through a combination of selective quota share and surplus reinsurance.  Further, 
the Group has a “CAT XL” reinsurance arrangement to cover its exposure in the case of an event affecting more 
than three lives.
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(a)	 Frequency and severity of claims (continued)

In general, all large sums assured are facultatively reinsured on terms that substantially limit the Group’s 
maximum net exposure. The Directors consider that all other business is adequately protected through treaty 
reinsurance with a reasonable spread of benefits payable according to the age of the insured, and the size of 
the sum assured. The Group is largely exposed to insurance risk in one geographical area, Malta. Single event 
exposure is capped through the “CAT XL” reinsurance arrangement as referred above.

(b)	 Sources of uncertainty in the estimation of future benefit payments and premium receipts

Uncertainty in the estimation of future benefit payments and premium receipts for long term insurance 
contracts arises from the unpredictability of long term changes in overall levels of mortality and the variability 
in contract holder behaviour. The Group uses appropriate base tables of standard mortality according to the 
type of contract being written. The Group does not take credit for future lapses in determining the liability for 
long term contracts in accordance with the insurance rules regulating its calculation.

Financial risk

The Group is exposed to financial risk through its financial assets and liabilities, reinsurance assets, and 
insurance liabilities. In particular, the key financial risk is that the proceeds from its financial assets are not 
sufficient to fund the obligations arising from its insurance and investment contracts with DPF. The Group is 
also exposed to significant liquidity risk in relation to obligations arising on the bonds issued in 2016. The most 
important components of financial risk are market risk (including currency risk, cash flow, fair value interest 
rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.  

These risks partly arise from open positions in interest rate, currency and equity products, all of which are 
exposed to general and specific market movements. The Group manages these positions through adherence 
to an investment policy. The policy adopted is modelled to take into account actuarial recommendations, 
and is developed to achieve long term investment returns in excess of its obligations under insurance and 
investment contracts with DPF. The principal technique underlying the Group’s framework is to broadly match 
assets to the liabilities arising from insurance and investment contracts with DPF by reference to the type of 
benefits payable to contract holders, and the recommended portfolio mix as advised by the approved actuary.

The Group’s investment policy is formally approved by the Board of Directors. Portfolio review processes and 
investment decisions are generally delegated to a dedicated Sub-Investment Committee or the Chief Executive 
Officer. Transactions in excess of pre-established parameters are subject to Board approval. The procedures 
consider, inter alia, a recommended portfolio structure, authorisation parameters, asset and counterparty 
limits and currency restrictions.  Management reports to the Investment Committee on a regular basis. The 
Committee meets to consider, inter alia, investment prospects, liquidity, and the performance of the portfolio 
and the overall framework of the Group’s investment strategy. Solvency considerations as regulated by the 
relevant Authority are also taken into account as appropriate.

Market risk 

(a)	 Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group and the Company are exposed to the risk of fluctuating market interest rate. Assets/liabilities with 
variable rates expose the Group and the Company to cash flow interest risk. Assets/liabilities with fixed rates 
expose the Group and the Company to fair value interest rate risk to the extent that they are measured at fair 
value.

Market risk (continued)

(a)	 Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk (continued)

The total assets and liabilities subject to interest rate risk are the following:

 	     Group		  Company	 
 	 2018	 2017	 2018	 2017
                                                                         	 €               	 €	 €	 €
Assets attributable to policyholders	  	  	 	  
Assets at floating interest rates	 10,195,013	 8,811,485	 -  	 -
Assets at fixed interest rates	 35,780,690	 39,227,267	 -              	 -
 	 —————————	 —————————	 —————	 —————
 	 45,975,703	 48,038,752	 - 	 -
 	 —————————	 —————————	 —————	 —————
Assets attributable to shareholders	  	  	 	  
Assets at floating interest rates	 834,809	 1,438,939	 281,105	      309,297
 	 ————————	 —————————	 ———————	 ———————
 	 46,810,512	 49,477,691	 281,105	 309,297
 	 ==================	 =====================	 ================	 ================
Liabilities	  	  	 	  
Technical provisions	 85,379,429	 78,167,779	 -	 -
 	 ==================	 =====================	 ================	 ================

As disclosed in Note 22 the Company issued a bond having a remaining nominal value of €10,000,000 
(2017: €10,000,000) as at year end at a fixed rate of interest. It had also obtained a loan from its shareholder 
amounting to €513,315 (2017: €Nil). This exposure does not give rise to fair value interest rate risk since the bond 
and the loan are carried at amortised cost in the financial statements. 

Interest rate risk is monitored by the Board on an ongoing basis. This risk is mitigated through the distribution 
of fixed interest investments over a range of maturity dates, and the definition of an investment policy as 
described earlier, which limits the amount of investment in any one interest earning asset or towards any one 
counterparty. Management monitors the movement in interest rates and, where possible, reacts to material 
movements in such rates by adjusting or restructuring its investment or financing structure and by maintaining 
an appropriate mix between fixed and floating rate instruments. As at the end of the reporting period, the 
Directors considered that no hedging arrangements were necessary to address interest rate risk. 

Insurance and investment contracts with DPF have benefit payments that are fixed and guaranteed at the 
inception of the contract (for example, sum assured), or as bonuses are declared. The financial component of 
these benefits is usually a guaranteed fixed interest rate set at the inception of the contract, or the supplemental 
benefits payable. The Group’s primary financial risk on these contracts is the risk that interest income and 
capital redemptions from the financial assets backing the liabilities are insufficient to fund the guaranteed 
benefits payable.  

The supplemental benefits payable to holders of such contracts are based substantially on historic and current 
rates of return on fixed income securities held as well as the Group’s expectations for future investment 
returns. The impact of interest rate risk is mitigated by the presence of the DPF.  Guaranteed benefits increase 
as supplemental benefits are declared and allocated to contract holders.
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All insurance and investment contracts with a DPF feature can be surrendered before maturity for a cash 
surrender value specified in the contractual terms and conditions. This surrender value is either lower than or at 
least equal to the carrying amount of the contract liabilities as a result of the application of surrender penalties 
set out in the contracts. The Group is not required to, and does not, measure this embedded derivative at fair 
value.  

The sensitivity for interest rate risk illustrates how changes in the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates at the reporting date. The Group’s interest 
rate risk arises primarily on fixed-income and floating rate financial assets held to cover policyholder liabilities. 
Interest-bearing assets or liabilities attributable to the shareholders are not significant, or they mainly mature 
in the short term, and as a result the Group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of 
changes in market interest rates in this regard. An indication of the sensitivity of insurance results to a variation 
of investment return on policyholders’ assets is provided in Note 11 to the financial statements in relation to the 
value of in-force business. Further sensitivity to investment return variations in relation to technical provisions 
is provided in Note 17 to the financial statements. 

Should the carrying amounts of assets at fixed interest rates at the end of the reporting period increase/
decrease by 10%, with all other variables held constant, the impact on the Group’s pre-tax profit would be 
+/- €3,578,000 (2017: +/- €3,923,000). The Group is not exposed to significant cash flow interest rate risk on 
assets at floating interest rates as a reasonably possible change would not result in a significant cash flow 
interest rate risk.

(b)	 Price risk
 
The Group and the Company are exposed to market price risk arising from the uncertainty about the future 
prices of investments held that are classified in the statement of financial position as at fair value through 
profit or loss or as available for sale. This risk is mitigated through the adherence to an investment policy 
geared towards diversification as described earlier. The Group is exposed to price risk in respect of listed equity 
investment. Approximately 43% (2017: 48%) of equity securities held at fair value through profit or loss in Note 
16 relate to holdings in three local banks. The remaining equity securities held at fair value through profit or 
loss are mainly held in equities in the Telecommunication Services and Information Technology sectors.

The total assets subject to equity price risk are the following: 

 	 Group	 Company
 	 2018	 2017	 2018	 2017
 	 €	 €	 €	 €

Assets attributable to policyholders	 19,687,852	 20,553,113	 -	 - 
 	 ==================	 ==================	 ================	 ================

The sensitivity analysis for price risk illustrates how changes in the fair value of equity securities will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices, whether these changes are caused by factors specific to the individual 
equity issuer, or factors affecting all similar equity securities traded in the market.

The sensitivity analysis measures the change in the fair value of the instruments for a hypothetical change 
of 10% in the market price of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. The amounts generated 
from the sensitivity analysis are forward-looking estimates of market risk assuming certain market conditions. 
Actual results in the future may differ materially from those projected results due to the inherent uncertainty 
of global financial markets. Should market prices at the end of the reporting period increase/decrease by 10%, 
with all other variables held constant, the impact on the Group’s pre-tax profit would be +/- €1,694,000 (2017: 
+/- €1,857,000). This sensitivity analysis is based on a change in an assumption while holding all assumptions 
constant and does not consider, for example, the mitigating impact of the DPF element on policyholder 
liabilities for contracts with a DPF.

(c)	 Currency risk

The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to foreign exchange risk arises primarily from investments that 
are denominated in currencies other than the Euro. As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s exposure to foreign 
currency investments (principally comprising a mix of US Dollar, UK Pound and Swiss Franc) represented 13% 
(2017: 3%) of the Group’s total investments in Note 16. Approximately 0.5% (2017: 15%) of the Group’s cash and 
cash equivalents, are denominated in foreign currency (principally comprising a mix of US Dollar, UK Pound 
and Swiss Franc).

The risk arising from foreign currency transactions is managed by regular monitoring of the relevant exchange 
rates and management’s reaction to material movements thereto. In addition, currency exposure is regulated 
by the Regulations underlying the Insurance Business Act (Cap. 403), in so far as life assurance business is 
concerned. 

For financial instruments held or issued, a sensitivity analysis technique that measures the change in the fair 
value and the cash flows of the Group’s financial instruments at the reporting date for hypothetical changes 
in exchange rates has been used. The amounts generated from the sensitivity analysis are forward-looking 
estimates of market risk assuming certain market conditions. Actual results in the future may differ materially 
from those projected results due to the inherent uncertainty of global financial markets. The sensitivity 
analysis is for illustrative purposes only, as in practice market rates rarely change in isolation and are likely to 
be interdependent.

Should exchange rates at the end of the reporting period differ by +/-10%, with all other variables held constant, 
the impact on the Company’s pre-tax profit would be +/- €798,474 (2017: +/- €283,088).

Credit risk

The Group and the Company have exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will be unable 
to pay amounts in full when due. Financial assets that potentially subject the Group to concentrations of credit 
risk consist principally of:

-	 investments (including counterparty risk);
-	 reinsurers’ share of technical provisions;
-	 trade and other receivables; and
-	 cash and cash equivalents.

The Company is exposed to credit risk as at the financial year-end in respect of amounts due from subsidiary 
undertakings and cash at bank balances, which are placed with reliable financial institutions. 

The Group structures the levels of credit risk it accepts by placing limits on its exposure to a single 
counterparty, or groups of counterparties. Limits on the level of credit risk by category are defined within the 
Group’s investment policy as described earlier. This policy also considers regulatory restrictions on asset and 
counterparty exposures. Further detail on the content of the Group’s investment portfolio is provided in Note 
16 to these financial statements.  

Credit risk in respect of trade and other receivables is not deemed to be significant after considering the range 
of underlying debtors, and their creditworthiness. Receivables are stated net of impairment. Further detail in 
this regard is provided in Note 18 to the financial statements. 

Reinsurance is used to manage insurance risk. This does not, however, discharge the Group’s liability as primary 
insurer. If a reinsurer fails to pay a claim for any reason, the Group remains liable for payment to the policyholder. 
The creditworthiness of reinsurers is considered on an ongoing basis and by reviewing their financial strength 
prior to finalisation of any contract. The Group’s reinsurer retained its Standard and Poor’s rating of AA to AA- 
bracket as at 31 December 2018.
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The credit risk in respect of cash at bank is mitigated by placing such balances with reliable financial institutions.

Credit risk in respect of the amounts due from subsidiary undertakings to the Company is closely monitored by the 
Company and is tested for impairment as disclosed in Note 15.

The following table illustrates the assets that expose the Group to credit risk as at the end of the reporting period 
and includes the Standard & Poor’s composite rating for debt securities at fair value through profit or loss, when 
available, and the default rating for deposits with banks and cash and cash equivalents, when available. 

Assets bearing credit risk at the end of the reporting period are analysed as follows:

         
         Group    As at 31 December 2018

		  AAA 		  BBB	 Below B
		  to AA	  A	 to B	 to unrated	 Total
		  €	 €	 €	 €	 €
Investments						    
Debt securities at fair value						    
through profit or loss		  4,468,496	 7,209,477	 19,004,797	 5,097,920	 35,780,690
Debt securities asset-for-sale		  -	 -	 127,512	 -	 127,512 
		  -----------------------------------	 -----------------------------------	 --------------------------------------	 -----------------------------------	 ----------------------------------
		  4,468,496	 7,209,477	 19,132,309	 5,097,920	 35,908,202
		  -----------------------------------	 -----------------------------------	 --------------------------------------	 -----------------------------------	           ----------------------------------
Loans and receivables						    
Loans secured on policies		  -	 -	 -	 110,752	 110,752 
Other loans and receivables		  -	 3,000,000	 -	 1,949,848	 4,949,848
Trade and other receivables		  -	 -	 -	 3,153,357	 3,153,357
Cash and cash equivalents		  -	 -	 8,509,109	 2,520,713	 11,029,822
		  -----------------------------------	 -----------------------------------	 --------------------------------------	 -----------------------------------	 ----------------------------------
		  -	 3,000,000	 8,509,109	 7,734,670	 19,243,779
		  -----------------------------------	 -----------------------------------	 --------------------------------------	 -----------------------------------	 ----------------------------------
Reinsurance share of 						    
technical provisions		  13,359,221	 -	 -	 -	 13,359,221
		  -----------------------------------	 -----------------------------------	 --------------------------------------	 -----------------------------------	 -------------------------------------
Total assets bearing credit risk		  17,827,717	 10,209,477	 27,641,418	 12,832,590	 68,511,202
		  ======================	 ======================	 ========================	 ======================	 ======================

As at 31 December 2017

 		  AAA	 A	 BBB 	 Below B	 Total
 		  to AA	 	  to B	  to unrated	 
 		  €	 €	 €	 €	 €
Investments						    
Debt securities at fair value						    
through profit or loss		  12,987	 15,957,157	 19,005,414	 4,251,709	 39,227,267
Debt securities available-for-sale		  -	 175,983	 345,810	 -	 521,793
		  -----------------------------------	 -----------------------------------	 -----------------------------------	 --------------------------------------	 -----------------------------------	
		  12,987	 16,133,140	  19,351,224	 4,251,709	 39,749,060
		  -----------------------------------	 -----------------------------------	 -----------------------------------	 --------------------------------------	 -----------------------------------	
Loans and receivables						    
Loans secured on policies		  -	 -	 -	 110,597	 110,597
Other loans and receivables		  -	 -	 -	 2,000,000	 2,000,000
Trade and other receivables		  -	 -	 -	 2,591,772	 2,591,772
Cash and cash equivalents		  -	 -	 9,137,053	 1,113,371	 10,250,424
		  ----------------------------------	 -----------------------------------	 -----------------------------------	 --------------------------------------	 -----------------------------------	
		  -	 -	 9,137,053	 5,815,740	 14,952,793
		  -----------------------------------	 -----------------------------------	 -----------------------------------	 --------------------------------------	 -----------------------------------	
Reinsurance share of 							     
technical provisions		  9,692,516	 -	 -	 -	 9,692,516
		  -----------------------------------	 -----------------------------------	 -----------------------------------	 --------------------------------------	 -----------------------------------	
Total assets bearing credit risk 		  9,705,503	 16,133,140	 28,488,277	 10,067,449	 64,394,369
		  =====================	 =====================	 =====================	 =======================	 =====================	

All the assets of GlobalCapital plc stand-alone company are rated in the category “Below B to unrated.”

Unrated financial assets principally comprise locally traded bonds on the Malta Stock Exchange, receivables 
and certain deposits with local bank institutions for which no credit rating is available.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017 the Group had significant exposure with the Government of Malta through 
investments in debt securities. In 2018 these were equivalent to 12% (2017: 29%) of the Group’s total investments.

The tables below analyse the Group’s financial assets into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining 
period between the end of the reporting period and the maturity date. The expected cash outflows for insurance 
and investment contracts do not consider the impact of early surrenders. Resilience and closure reserves are 
not included in the figures below.

	



60 Annual Report & Financial Statements 2018Annual Report & Financial Statements 2018 61

	     Expected discounted cash outflows
	 _______________________________________________________________

		  Between	 Between
	 Less than	 five and	 ten and		
	 five years	 ten years	 twenty years	 Over	 Total
	 €	 €	 €	 €	 €

As at 31 December 2018	 				  
Reinsurance share of 
Technical provisions	 3,751,861	 1,913,941	 2,939,029	 4,754,390	 13,359,221

	                          _________________________________________________________________

As at 31 December 2017
Reinsurance share of 
Technical provisions	 2,622,968 	      1,482,413	 2,353,799 	    3,233,336 	  9,692,516

	                          _________________________________________________________________

Liquidity risk

Liquidity is the risk that cash may not be available to pay obligations when due at a reasonable cost. The Group 
adopts a prudent liquidity risk management approach by maintaining a sufficient proportion of its assets in 
cash and marketable securities through the availability of an adequate amount of committed credit facilities 
and the ability to close out market positions. Senior management is updated on a regular basis on the cash 
position of the Group illustrating, inter alia, actual cash balance net of operational commitments falling due in 
the short term as well as investment commitments falling due in the medium and long term.

The Group is exposed to daily calls on its available cash resources in order to meet its obligations, including 
claims arising from contracts in issue by the Group. Other financial liabilities which expose the Group and the 
Company to liquidity risk mainly comprise the borrowings disclosed in Note 22 and trade and other payables 
disclosed in Note 23.

The tables below analyse the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the 
remaining period between the end of the reporting period and the maturity date. The expected cash outflows 
for insurance and investment contracts do not consider the impact of early surrenders. Expected cash outflows 
on unit linked liabilities have been excluded since they are matched by expected inflows on backing assets.

	

  Group
	
As at 31 December 2018     Contracted undiscounted cash outflows

	  	 Between	 Between
 	 Less than	 one and	 two and	 Over	 	  Carrying
 	 one year	 two years	 five years	 five years	 Total	 amount
 	 €	 €	 €	 €	 €	 €

Interest-bearing 
borrowings	 1,013,315	 500,000	 10,500,000	 -	 12,013,315	 10,202,013
Trade and 
other payables	 6,650,800	 -	 -	 -	 6,650,800	 6,650,800
 	 ---------------------------------------	 -----------------------------------------	 -----------------------------------------	 -----------------------------------------	 -----------------------------------------	 ----------------------------------------
 	 7,664,115	 500,000	 10,500,000	 -	 18,664,115	 16,852,813
 	 ==========================	 ==========================	 ===========================	 =========================	 =========================	 =========================

Expected discounted cash outflows

	  	 Between	 Between
 	 Less than	 five and	 ten and	 Over	 	  Carrying
 	 five years	 ten years	 twenty years	 twenty years	 Total	 amount
 	 €	 €	 €	 €	 €	 €

Technical provisions	 27,569,877	 14,064,249	 21,624,074	 34,909,634	 98,167,834	 98,167,834
 	 ==========================	 =========================	 =========================	 =========================	 =========================	 =======================

As at 31 December 2017 Contracted undiscounted cash outflows

	  	 Between	 Between
 	 Less than	 one and	 two and	 Over	 	  Carrying
 	 one year	 two years	 five years	 five years	 Total	 amount
 	 €	 €	 €	 €	 €	 €

Interest-bearing 
borrowings	 500,000	 500,000	 11,000,000	 -	 12,000,000	 9,779,958
Trade and 
other payables	 6,989,658	 -	 -	 -	 6,989,658	 6,989,658
 	 ---------------------------------------	 -----------------------------------------	 -----------------------------------------	 -----------------------------------------	 -----------------------------------------	 ----------------------------------------
 	 7,489,658	 500,000	 11,000,000	 -	 18,989,658	 16,769,616
 	 ========================	 ===========================	 =========================	 ==========================	 =========================	 =========================

Expected discounted cash outflows

	  	 Between	 Between
 	 Less than	 five and	 ten and	 Over	 	  Carrying
 	 five years	 ten years	 twenty years	 twenty years	 Total	 amount
 	 €	 €	 €	 €	 €	 €

Technical provisions	 23,816,533	 13,460,491	 21,372,840	 29,356,979	 88,006,843	 88,006,843
 	 =======================	 =========================	 =========================	 =========================	 =========================	 =========================
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Company

The tables below analyse the Company’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining 
period between the end of the reporting period and the maturity date.

As at 31 December 2018   Contracted undiscounted cash outflows

	  	 Between	 Between	  	 	  
	 Less than	 one and	 two and	 Over	 	  Carrying
	 one year	 two years	 five years	 five years	 Total	 amount
	 €	 €	 €	 €	 €	 €

Borrowings	                                      500,000	 500,000	 10,500,000	 -	 11,500,000	 9,688,698
Trade and 
other payables	 4,614,101	 -	 -	 -		  4,614,101		  4,614,101
	 ---------------------------------------	 ---------------------------------------	 ---------------------------------------	 ---------------------------------------	 ---------------------------------------	 ---------------------------------------
	 5,114,101	 500,000	 10,500,000	 -	 16,114,101	 14,302,799
	 =========================	 =========================	 =========================	 =========================	 =========================	 =========================

As at 31 December 2017    Contracted undiscounted cash outflows

	  	 Between	 Between	  	 	  
	 Less than	 one and	 two and	 Over	 	  Carrying
	 one year	 two years	 five years	 five years	 Total	 amount
	 €	 €	 €	 €	 €	 €

Borrowings	 500,000	 500,000	 11,000,000	 -	 12,000,000	 9,779,958
Trade and 
other payables	 3,079,376	 -	 -	 -		  3,079,376		  3,079,376
	 ---------------------------------------	 ---------------------------------------	 ---------------------------------------	 ---------------------------------------	 ---------------------------------------	 ---------------------------------------
	 3,579,376	 500,000	 11,000,000	 -	 15,079,376	 12,859,334
	 ========================	 ========================	 =========================	 ========================	 ========================	 =======================
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The Group’s reportable segments under IFRS 8 are identified as follows:

•	 Investment and advisory services - the provision of services in terms of the Investment    Services Act 
(Cap. 370);

•	 Business of insurance -  to carry on long term business of insurance under the Insurance Business Act 
(Cap. 403);

•	 Agency and brokerage services - provision of agency or brokerage services for health or other general 
insurance in terms of the Insurance Distribution Act (Cap. 487); and

•	 Property services - to handle property acquisitions, disposals and development projects both long and 
short term.

The other operating segment includes corporate expenses and other activities which are not reportable segments 
due to their immateriality. Certain expenses, finance costs and taxes are not allocated across the segments.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment profit or 
loss represents the results generated by each segment without the allocation of certain finance costs, impairment of 
goodwill and taxation. This is the measure reported to the Group’s chief executive officer for the purpose of resource 
allocation and assessment of segment performance. 

All the Group’s turnover is primarily generated in and from Malta. 

Segment assets consist primarily of investments, receivables, intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and 
operating cash. Segment liabilities comprise insurance technical provisions and other operating liabilities. Capital 
expenditure comprises additions to computer software and to property, plant and equipment. Unallocated assets 
comprise investments that are not allocated to policyholders, taxation and intra group receivables. Unallocated 
liabilities mainly comprise borrowings, taxation and intra group payables.

All non-current assets (other than financial instruments, deferred tax assets and rights under insurance contracts) are 
held in Malta with the exception of investment property located in Italy amounting to €6,700,000 (2017: €5,500,000), 
in Croatia of €630,000 (2017: €590,000) and other countries amounting to €200,000 (2017: €182,000).

Revisionary bonuses declared in the year amounted to €1,189,150 (2017: €1,783,101)
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4.	 Expenses by nature

 	 Group	 	  Company	 
 	 2018	 2017	 2018	 	       2017
 	 €	 €	 €	 	             €
 	 	   	  	 	  
Staff cost (Note 5)	 2,009,432	 1,889,641	 183,889	 176,802 
Commission and direct marketing costs	 1,584,964	 1,832,254	 -	 - 
Amortisation of computer software	 148,393	 145,843	 211	 588 
Depreciation of property, plant 
and machinery	 88,480	 86,026	 3,073	 2,366 
Legal and professional fees	 523,633	 259,707	 52,349	 11,532 
Other provisions	 142,221	 (12,962)	 -	 - 
Insurance and licence costs	 273,806	 220,575	 -	 -
IT related costs	 464,239	 225,118	 -	 -
Staff training and welfare costs	 175,700	 46,260	 -	 -
Other expenses	 893,707	 944,820	 50,241	 181,326 
 	 ————————	 ————————	 ———————	 ———————
 	 6,304,575	 5,637,282	 289,763	 372,614 
 	 ==================	 ==================	 ================	 ================
 	  	  	 	  
Allocated as follows:	  	  	 	  
Long term business technical account	  	  	 	  
- claims related expenses	 181,707	 154,488	 -	 -
- staff costs	 606,742	 569,631	 -	 -
- net operating expenses	 2,486,762	 2,347,897	 -	 -
Non-technical account	 	 	 
- staff costs	 1,402,690	 1,320,010	 -	 -
- commission and direct marketing costs	 153,391	 101,447	 -	 -
- other provisions	 142,221	 (12,962)	 -	 -
- other administrative expenses	 1,331,062	 1,156,771	 289,763	 372,614 
 	 ————————	 ————————	 ———————	 ———————
 	 6,304,575	 5,637,282	 289,763	 372,614 
 	 ==================	 ==================	 ================	 ================

Auditor’s remuneration for the current financial year amounted to €97,500 (2017:  €97,500) for the Group 
and €50,000 (2017: €50,000) for the Company. Other fees payable to the auditor comprise €43,000 (2017: 
€18,000) for other assurance services, €9,000 (2017: €9,000) for tax services and nil (2017: €11,000) for other 
non-audit services. 

Other provisions for the year under review represent the best estimate of the expected outflow of resources to 
settle a present obligation resulting from outstanding court and arbitration cases against the Group.

5.	 Staff costs
 
 	 Group	 	  Company	 
 	 2018	 2017	 2018	 2017
 	 €	 €	 €	 €
Staff costs, including directors’	  	  	 	  
emoluments (Note 8):
Wages and salaries	 1,910,346	 1,792,383	 1,910,346	 1,792,383 
Social security costs	 99,086	 97,258	 99,086	 97,258 
 	 ————————	 ———————	 ———————	 ———————
 	 2,009,432	 1,889,641	 2,009,432	            1,889,641	  
Recharged to group undertakings	 -	 -	 (1,825,543)	 (1,712,839)
 	 ————————	 ———————	 ———————	 ———————
 	 2,009,432	 1,889,641	 183,889	 176,802 
 	 ==================	 ================	 ================	 ================

	  
The average number of persons employed by both the Group 
and the Company during the year are analysed below:

 	 2018	 2017
 	 Number	 Number

Managerial	 10	 11
Sales 	 6	 6
Administrative	 43	 44
 	 ———	 -----------
 	 59	 61
 	 =======	 ======

The table above represents salaried staff and does not include self-employed Tied Insurance Intermediaries.
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6.	 Investment return and finance costs
 
 	 Group	 	  Company	 
 	 2018	 2017	 2018	 2017
 	 €	 € 	 €	 €
 	 	 	 	    
Investment income	 	   	 	  
Rental income from investment property	 579,870	 560,245	 -	 -
Dividends received from investments at
fair value through profit or loss	 467,089	 300,539	 -	 -
Dividends received from available-for-sale 
investments	 19,181	 22,342	 -	 -
Interest receivable from 	 	  
- investments at fair value through 
  profit or loss	 2,020,860	 1,738,499	 -	  -
- held-to-maturity investments	 -	 194,618	 -	 -
- other loans and receivables	 1,588	 6,190	 -	 -
- available-for-sale investments	 10,724	 -
Other income	 49,245	 139,817	 -	 -
 	 ————————	 ————————	 —————	 —————
 	 3,148,557	 2,962,250	 -	 -
 	 ————————	 ————————	 —————	 —————
Investment charges and expenses	 	 	 	    
Investment management charges	 (129,710)	 (77,281)	 -	 -
Interest payable on:	 	  
- Interest-bearing borrowings	 (13,315)	 -	 (13,315)	 -
- Interest on bonds payable	 (495,000)	 (493,151)	 (495,000)	 (493,151) 
Amortisation of bond issue costs	 (64,128)	 (64,128)	 (64,128)	 (64,128)
Amortisation of premium	 (60,000)	 -	 -	 -
Other finance costs	 (13,408)	 -	 (5,797)	 -
 	 ————————	 ———————	 ———————	 ———————
 	 (775,561)	 (634,560)	 (578,240)	 (557,279) 
 	 ————————	 ———————	 ———————	 ———————
 
Movement in fair value
Net gains on investment property 
and non-current assets held for sale	 1,695,694	 2,100,316	 -	 -
Net (losses)/gains on financial investments	 (2,192,012)	 1,048,693	 -	 -
 	 ————————	 ————————	 ———————	 —————
 	 (496,318)	 3,149,009	 -	  - 
 	 ————————	 ————————	 ———————	 —————
	 	 	 	    
Total investment return/(loss)	 1,876,678	 5,476,699	 (578,240)	 (557,279)
 	 ================	 ================	 ================	 ================
 	  	  	  	 
Allocated as follows:	   	   	   
Long term business technical account	 917,697	 1,840,323	 -	 -
Statement of comprehensive income	 958,981	 3,636,376	 (578,240)	 (557,279)
 	 ———————	 ———————	 ———————	 —————————
 	 1,876,678	 5,476,699	 (578,240)	 (557,279)
	 =============	 ==============	 =============	 ================

7.	 Income tax

	 Group	 Company
	 2018	 2017	 2018	 2017
	 €	 €	 €	 €
	 	 		
Current tax charge/(credit)	 77,793	 (136,418)	 -	 -
Deferred tax (credit)/charge	 (83,116)	 931,806	 -	 -
Tax relating to value of in-force business	 790,710	 679,424	 -	 -
	 ———————	 ———————	 ———————	 ———————
Tax charge	 785,387	 1,474,812	 -	 -	
	 ================	 ================	 ================	 ================

Income tax recognised in other comprehensive income is as follows:

	 Group	 Company
	 2018	 2017	 2018	 2017
	 €	 €	 €	 €
Deferred tax	
Arising on income and expenses
recognised in other comprehensive income:	
Revaluations of available-for-sale
financial assets	 (80,681)	 (21,977)	 -	 - 
	 ———————	 ———————	 ———————	 ———————
	 (80,681)	 (21,977)	 -	 - 
	 ================	 ================	 ================	 ================

The tax on the Group’s and the Company’s profit/(loss) before tax differs from the theoretical amount that 
would arise using the basic tax rate as follows:

	 Group	 Company
	 2018	 2017	 2018	 2017
	 €	 €	 €	 €
 	  	  	  	  
Profit/(loss) before tax	 1,168,191	 4,644,195	 (868,003)	 (929,893)
 	 ———————	 ———————	 ———————	 —————
Tax on profit/(loss) at 35%	 408,867	 1,625,468	 (303,801)	 (325,463)	
Tax effect of:	 	 	 	    
Non-deductible expenditure	 657,677	 401,212	 303,801	 325,463 
Exempt income and income subject to a	 	 	 	    
reduced rate of tax	 (97,181)	 (609,605)	 -	 -
Other differences	 (183,976)	 57,737	 -	 -
	 ———————	 ———————	 ———————	 ———————
Tax expense	 785,387	 1,474,812	 -	 -
 	 ================	 ================	 ================	 ================
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8.	 Directors’ emoluments 

 	 Group	 Company
 	 2018	 2017	 2018	 2017
 	 €	 €	 €	 €
 	  	  	 	  
Directors’ emoluments 	 430,939	 352,485	 235,389	 352,485 
Recharged to group undertakings	 -	 -	 (51,500)	 (175,683)
 	 ———————	 ———————	 ———————	 ————————
 	 430,939	 352,485	 183,889	 176,802 
 	 ================	 ================	 ================	 ================

The executive directors are entitled to participate in a health insurance scheme subsidised by the Group.

The above information for the Company includes salaries and emoluments amounting to €51,500 (2017: 
€175,683) that were recharged to group undertakings.

9.	 Earnings per share

	 Earnings per share is based on the net profit for the year divided by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares in issue during the year.  

 	 Group
	 2018	 2017
	 €	 €
	 	
Net profit attributable to shareholders	 382,804	 3,169,383
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 	 30,000,000	 30,000,000
Earnings per share (cents)    	 1c3	 10c5
	 ======================	 ====================

	 There is no difference between basic and diluted earnings per share as the Company has no potential dilutive 
ordinary shares. 

10.	 Dividends

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for 2018 as the Company had no distributable 
reserves at the end of the reporting period. No dividend was paid in 2017. 

11.	 Intangible assets

Group
 	 	  Value of	 	  
 	 	  in-force	 Computer	 
 	 Goodwill	 business	 software	 Total
 	 €	 €	 €	 €
At 1 January 2017	 	 	 	    
Cost or valuation 	 311,541  	 6,855,079	 2,396,268  	 9,562,888
Accumulated amortisation	  -  	  -  	 (708,777)	 (708,777)
 	 —————	 ———————	 ———————	 ———————
Carrying amount	 311,541  	 6,855,079  	 1,687,491	 8,854,111
 	 —————	 ———————	 ———————	 ———————
Year ended 31 December 2017	 	 	 	    
Opening carrying amount 	 311,541  	 6,855,079  	 1,687,491  	 8,854,111  
Increment in value in force business	  -  	 1,261,787	  -  	 1,261,787
Additions	  -  	        -	  227,766  	 227,766
Amortisation charge	  -  	    -  	 (145,843)	 (145,843)
 	 —————	 ———————	 ———————	 ———————
Closing carrying amount 	 311,541  	 8,116,866	 1,769,414	 10,197,821
 	 —————	 ———————	 ———————	 ———————
At 31 December 2017	 	 	 	    
Cost or valuation 	 311,541  	 8,116,866  	 2,624,034	 11,052,441
Accumulated amortisation	  -  	  -  	 (854,620)	 (854,620)
 	 —————	 ———————	 ———————	 ———————
Carrying amount	 311,541  	 8,116,866  	 1,769,414  	 10,197,821
 	 ============	 ================	 ================	 ================
 	 	 	 	    
At 1 January 2018	 	 	 	    
Cost or valuation 	   311,541	  8,116,866	 2,624,034	 11,052,441
Accumulated amortisation	    -	  -	 (854,620)	 (854,620)
 	 —————	 ———————	 ———————	 ———————
Carrying amount	   311,541	 8,116,866	   1,769,414	 10,197,821
 	 —————	 ———————	 ———————	 ———————
Year ended 31 December 2018	 	 	 	    
Opening carrying amount 	   311,541	 8,116,866	   1,769,414	 10,197,821  
Increment in value in force business	    -	 1,468,461  	 -	 1,468,461    
Additions	  -	        -	  62,144  	 62,144  
Amortisation charge	    -	   -	 (148,393)	 (148,393)
 	 —————	 ————————	 ———————	 ————————
Closing carrying amount 	   311,541	  9,585,327 	  1,683,165 	  11,580,033 
 	 —————	 ————————	 ———————	 ————————
At 31 December 2018	 	 	 	    
Cost or valuation 	  311,541 	 9,585,327	 2,686,178	 12,583,046 
Accumulated amortisation	   -	    -	 (1,003,013)	 (1,003,013)
 	 —————	 ———————	 ———————	 ————————
Carrying amount	 311,541	 9,585,327	 1,683,165	 11,580,033  
 	 ============	 ================	 ================	 ================
 

	 Amortisation of computer software amounting to €148,393 (2017: €145,843) is included in expenses by nature 
(Note 4). 
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Computer software relates to the Group’s policy administration system. The carrying amount of the software 
is €1,680,461 (2017: €1,767,553) will be fully amortised in 11 years (2017: 12 years). Included in computer software 
at 31 December 2018 is an amount of €193,554 (2017: €162,260) relating to expenditure for software under 
development. 

Impairment tests for goodwill

The goodwill component at the end of the reporting period relates to the Group’s health insurance agency 
that was acquired as a result of the merger by acquisition of the local operations of BAI Co (Mtius) Ltd in 2004. 
An impairment assessment was carried out in which the recoverable amount of the goodwill was determined 
based on its value in use. The value in use was determined by estimating the discounted future cash flows the 
Group expects to derive from this component over 10 years. Projected cash flows assumed an average growth 
rate of 3% per annum. A discount rate of 6% and a capitalisation rate of 10% were applied to determine value 
in use. From such assessment there was no indication of impairment on the remaining goodwill.

Value of in-force business – assumptions, changes in assumptions and sensitivity 

The value of in-force business (“VOIFB”) represents the net present value of projected future transfers to 
Shareholders from policies in force at the year end, after making provision for taxation.  The value of in-force 
business is determined by the Directors on an annual basis, based on the   advice of the approved actuary. 

The assumption parameters of the valuation are based on a combination of the Group’s experience and market 
data. Due to the long-term nature of the underlining business, the cash flow projection period for each policy 
is set to its maturity date. The valuation is based on a discount rate of 5.25% (2017: 5.5%) and a growth rate of 
3.4% to 5.5% (2.4% to 6.5%) depending on the type of policy.

The valuation assumes a margin of 0.8% (2017: 0.75%) between the weighted average projected investment 
return and the discount factor applied. The calculation also assumes lapse rates varying from 0% to 24%, and 
expenses are implicitly inflated.  

 
Sensitivity of the main assumptions underlying the valuation is applied as follows:

 
•	 a 10% increase in the assumption for policy maintenance expenses reduces the VOIFB by €653,000 (2017: 

€690,000);
•	 a decrease in the projected investment return by 10% reduces the VOIFB by €1,056,000 (2017: €874,000); 

and
•	 an increase in the discount factor by 10% reduces the VOIFB by €530,000 (2017: €667,000).

 
The above sensitivity analysis is based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions 
constant.

Company 	 	  Computer
	 	  Software
 	 	  €
At 1 January 2017
Cost	 	  16,922
Accumulated amortisation	 	  (16,334)
	 	  -------------------------------
Carrying amount	 	  588
 	 	  ====================
Year ended 31 December 2017
Opening carrying amount	 	  588
Amortisation charge	 	  (588)
 	 	  -------------------------------
Closing carrying amount	 	  -
 	 	        ====================
At 31 December 2017
Cost	 	  16,922
Accumulated amortisation	 	  (16,922)
	 	  -------------------------------
Carrying amount	 	  -
 	 	  ====================
Year ended 31 December 2018
Opening carrying amount	 	  -
Additions	 	  -
Amortisation charge	 	  -
 	 	  -------------------------------
Closing carrying amount	 	  -
 	 	        ====================
At 31 December 2018
Cost	 	  16,922
Accumulated amortisation	 	  (16,922)
	 	  -------------------------------
Carrying amount	 	  -
 	 	  ===================

12.	 Deferred tax

Deferred taxes are calculated on temporary differences under the balance sheet liability method using a 
principal tax rate ranging between 8% and 35% (2017: 8% and 35%). In particular temporary differences 
on investment properties situated in Malta that have been owned by the Group since 1 January 2004 are 
calculated under the liability method using a principal tax rate of 8% of the carrying amount, while investment 
properties situated in Malta that had been acquired by the Group before 1 January 2004 are calculated under 
the liability method using a principal tax rate of 10% of the carrying amount. Deferred tax on temporary 
differences on investment properties situated outside Malta has been calculated based on tax rates that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.   

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off a 
current tax asset against a current tax liability and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes 
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which 
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the 
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets 
are expected to be settled or recovered.  



76 Annual Report & Financial Statements 2018Annual Report & Financial Statements 2018 77

Any deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefit through future 
taxable income is probable. In making this assessment the Directors have taken into account projected 
taxable income based on approved budgets as well as the nature of the temporary difference giving rise to 
the deferred tax asset. At 31 December 2018 the Group had unabsorbed capital allowances of EUR1,854,082 
(2017: EUR1,852,549) and unused tax losses of EUR602,213 (2017: EUR1,047,225) for which no deferred tax asset 
is recognised in the statement of financial position. 

The movement on the deferred tax liability account is as follows:

	 Group	 Company
	 2018	 2017	 2018	 2017
	 €	 €	 €	 €
Year ended 31 December	 	 	 	    
At beginning of year	 3,009,014	 2,099,185	 -	 -
(Credited)/charged to
profit and loss account	 (83,116)	 931,806	 -	 -
Credited to 
other comprehensive income	 (80,681)	 (21,977)	 -	 -
 	 ———————	 ————————	 ——————	 ———————
At end of year	 2,845,217	 3,009,014	 -	 -
 	 ================	 ==================	 ===============	 ================

Deferred taxation at the year-end is in respect of the following temporary differences:

 	 Group	 Company
 	 2018	 2017	 2018	 2017
 	 €	 €	 €	 €
Arising on:	 	 	 	    
Fair value adjustments	 3,067,930	 3,837,593	 -	 -
Accelerated tax depreciation	 257,517	 100,147	 -	 -
Unutilised tax losses	 (442,220)	 (891,667)	 -	  -
Others	 (38,010)	 (37,059)	 -	  -
 	 ————————	 ————————	 ———————	 ———————
 	 2,845,217	 3,009,014	 -	 -
 	 ==================	 ==================	 ================	 ================

The Directors consider that the above temporary differences are substantially non-current in nature.

13.	 Property, plant and equipment

Group	  		  Office
 	 		   furniture,
 		  Land and	 fittings and	
 		  buildings 	         equipment	 Total
 		  €	 €	 €

Year ended 31 December 2018	 	 	 	    
Opening carrying amount		  2,049,571 	 77,141	 2,126,712 
Additions		  -	 21,241	 21,241
Depreciation charge		  (63,797)	 (24,683)	 (88,480)
 		  ———————	 ———————	 ————————	
Closing carrying amount		  1,985,774	 73,699	 2,059,473
		  ================	 ================	 ==================	
At 31 December 2018	 	 	 	    
Cost		  2,491,751	 2,293,255	 4,785,006
Accumulated depreciation		  (505,977)	 (2,219,556)	 (2,725,533)
 		  ———————	 ———————	 ————————	
Carrying amount		  1,985,774	 73,699	 2,059,473
 		  ================	 ================	 ===================	
Year ended 31 December 2017	 	 	 	    
Opening carrying amount		  2,009,670  	 40,583  	  2,050,253   
Additions		   103,998	 58,487	  162,485
Depreciation charge		  (64,097)	 (21,929)	  (86,026)
 		  ———————	 ———————	 ———————	
Closing carrying amount		  2,049,571 	 77,141	 2,126,712
		  ================	 ================	 ================	
At 31 December 2017	 	 	 	    
Cost		  2,491,751	 2,272,014	 4,763,765
Accumulated depreciation		  (442,180)	 (2,194,873) 	 (2,637,053)
 		  ————————	 ———————	 ———————	
Carrying amount		  2,049,571 	 77,141	 2,126,712
 		  ===================	 ================	 ================	

EUR1,629,372 (2017: EUR1,629,372) worth of office furniture, fittings and equipment assets are fully depreciated and is 
still in use.
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          Company 
 	 	  Office
 	 	  furniture,
 	 	  fittings and
 	 	  equipment
 	 	  €

At 1 January 2017	 	  
Cost	 	  109,693 
Accumulated depreciation	 	  (105,499)
 	 	  ———————
Carrying amount	 	  4,194 
 	 	  ———————
 	 	  
Year ending 31 December 2017	 	  
Opening carrying amount	 	  4,194 
Depreciation for the year	 	  (2,366)
 	 	  ————
Closing carrying amount	 	   1,828
 	 	  ========
At 31 December 2017	 	  
Cost	 	  109,693
Accumulated depreciation	 	  (107,865)
 	 	  ———————
Carrying amount	 	  1,828
 	 	  ———————
 	 	  
Year ending 31 December 2018	 	  
Opening carrying amount	 	  1,828 
Additions		  4,586
Depreciation for the year	 	  (3,284)
 	 	  —————
Closing carrying amount	 	  3,130
 	 	  ==========
At 31 December 2018	 	  
Cost	 	  114,279
Accumulated depreciation	 	  (111,149)
 	 	  —————
Carrying amount	 	  3,130
 	 	  ==========

 	 	  

14.     Investment property 
 		  Group		  Company
 	 2018	 2017	 2018	 2017
 	 €	 €	 €	 €
Year ended 31 December	 	 	 	    
At beginning of year	 20,855,955	 18,664,160	 -	 -
Additions	 18,043	 91,485	 -	 -
Net fair value gains	 1,695,694	 2,100,310	 -	 -
 	 —————————	 ————————	 ———————	 ————————
At end of year	 22,569,692	 20,855,955	 -	 -
 	 ====================	 ===================	 ================	 ================
At 31 December	 	 	 	    
Cost	 11,520,634	 11,502,591	 -	 -
Accumulated fair value gains	 11,049,058	 9,353,364	 -	 -
 	 —————————	 ————————	 ———————	 ———————
Net book amount	 22,569,692	 20,855,955	 -	 -
 	 =====================	 ====================	 ================	 ================

Details about the Group’s investment properties, including those classified as non-current assets held-for-sale, 
and information about the fair value hierarchy at 31 December 2018 and 2017 are as follows:

	
	 Fair value measurement at end of the
	 reporting period using:

 	 Level 1	 Level 2	 Level 3	 Total
 	 €	 €	 €	 €
2018
Investment property:
Local property	 -	 -	 15,039,692	 15,039,692
Foreign property	 -	 -	 7,530,000	 7,530,000
 	 -------------------------------	 -------------------------------	 -------------------------------	 -------------------------------
Total	 -	 -	 22,569,692	 22,569,692
	 ====================	 ====================	 ====================	 ===================
2017
Investment property:
Local property	 - 	 - 	 14,583,955	 14,583,955
Foreign property	 - 	 - 	 6,272,000	 6,272,000
 	 -------------------------------	 -------------------------------	 -------------------------------	 -------------------------------
Total	 - 	 - 	 20,855,955	 20,855,955
	 ================	 ================	 ================	 ================
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In estimating the fair value of the properties, the Board of Directors takes into account a market participant’s 
ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another 
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. In accordance with the Group’s 
accounting policy, the valuation of investment properties is assessed by the Board of Directors at the end of 
every reporting period. 

Fair value in relation to local properties which are leased out was computed using a discounted cash flow 
model by reference to rental income earned. No valuation was obtained from an independent professionally 
qualified valuer.

The fair value of foreign properties was determined by reference to an independent professionally qualified 
valuer. The basis of valuation adopted by the independent qualified valuer is the ‘Open Market Value’ which 
gives an opinion of the best price at which the sale of the property would be completed unconditionally, for 
cash consideration, by a willing seller, assuming there had been a reasonable period for the proper marketing 
of the property, and for the agreement of the price and terms for the completion of the sale. 

The table below includes further information about the Group’s Level 3 fair value measurements (excluding 
the Rome property):

Significant unobservable input Narrative sensitivity
€ €

2018
Local properties Rental value per square metre, ranging 

from €90 to €280 
The higher the price per square 
metre, the higher the fair value

Rent growth of 2.5% per annum The higher the rent growth, the 
higher the fair value

Discount rate of 6.6% The higher the discount rate, the 
lower the fair value

Foreign property - 
Croatia

Value per square metre of €126 The higher the price per square 
metre, the higher the fair value

Significant unobservable input Narrative sensitivity
€ €

2017
Local properties Rental value per square metre, ranging 

from €90 to €280 
The higher the price per square 
metre, the higher the fair value

Rent growth of 2.5% per annum The higher the rent growth, the 
higher the fair value

Discount rate of 6.6% The higher the discount rate, the 
lower the fair value

Foreign property - 
Croatia

Value per square metre of €118 The higher the price per square 
metre, the higher the fair value

The Group’s investment property portfolio also includes a property of an exceptional nature – a Baronial castle 
situated outside of Rome, which accounts for 4.8% (2017: 4.3%) of the Group’s total assets. The specialised 
nature of this property makes such an assessment particularly judgemental. A  professional valuation of the 
property was obtained in 2018 to provide the most probable market value of the asset on an ‘as is’ basis 
taking cognisance of the building’s physical condition, facilities and components. The valuation is based on an 
average value per square metre of €2,830, based on a sales comparison approach.

The values proposed by the various valuation experts over the last 9 years varied materiality from each other 
resulting in a wide range of possible estimates. This highlights the significance of the judgements involved in 
estimating the fair value of this property as well as the subjectivity of each valuation. The Directors resolved to 
maintain the carrying value of this property towards the lower end of this range.

Details about the Group’s investment properties classified as Level 3 at 31 December 2018 and 2017 are as 
follows:

 	 	 Local	 Foreign	
 	 	 property	  property	 Total
 	 	 €	 €	 €
Year ended 31 December 2018
At beginning of year	  	 14,583,955	 6,272,000	 20,855,955
Additions		  -	 18,043	 18,043
Fair value gains		  455,737	 1,239,957	 1,695,694
 		  -------------------------------	 -------------------------------	 -------------------------------
At end of year		  15,039,692	 7,530,000	 22,569,692
 		  ====================	 ====================	 ===================

Year ended 31 December 2017
At beginning of year	  	 12,432,160	 6,232,000	 18,664,160  
Additions		  91,485	 -	 91,485
Fair value gains	  	 2,060,310	 40,000	 2,100,310
 		  -------------------------------	 -------------------------------	 -------------------------------
At end of year	  	 14,583,955	 6,272,000	 20,855,955
 		  ====================	 ===================	 ===================

15.	 Investment in group undertakings

 	 2018	 2017
 	 €	 €

Opening cost and net book amount	 6,451,553	 6,451,553 
 	 -------------------------------	 ————————
Closing net book amount	 6,451,553	 6,451,553 
 	 ==================	 ==================

During the year, the Company carried out a review of the recoverable amount of its investment in group 
undertakings in view of the losses incurred by group undertakings during the financial year.

The recoverable amount of the relevant asset has been determined by reference to either the fair value less 
costs to sell or the value in use of the group undertakings.

No impairment loss was recognised in the current and prior year.
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Registered
Office

Principal 
place of
business

Class of
shares held

Percentage
of shares heldGroup undertakings
	 2018 	 2017

Brammer Limited City of Sofia, Bulgaria Ordinary shares 100%      100%
(in liquidation) Region of Mladost

H.E. “Mladost”
Bl. 434 Floor 5
App 114
Bulgaria

Central Landmark Testaferrata Street, Malta Ordinary shares 100%      100%
Development Limited Ta’ Xbiex Malta

Global Estates Limited Testaferrata Street, Malta Ordinary ‘A’ shares 100%      100%
Ta’ Xbiex Malta

Global Properties Limited 
(Međunarodne Nekretnine 
d.o.o.)

26/A/3 Gunduliceva,
Split Croatia

Croatia Ordinary shares 
 

100%      100%

GlobalCapital Financial * Testaferrata Street, Malta Ordinary shares 100%      100%
Management Limited Ta’ Xbiex Malta

GlobalCapital Health * Testaferrata Street, Malta Ordinary ‘A’ shares 100%      100%
Insurance Agency Limited Ta’ Xbiex Malta

GlobalCapital Holdings Testaferrata Street, Malta Ordinary shares 100%      100%
Limited Ta’ Xbiex Malta

GlobalCapital Life *
Insurance Limited

Testaferrata Street,
Ta’ Xbiex Malta

Malta
Ordinary shares

100%      100%

Quadrant Italia S.R.L. Via Bruxelles 34 Italy Ordinary shares 100%      100%
Cap 00100
Rome RM Italy

* The distribution of dividends by these subsidiary undertakings may be restricted by the solvency requirements 
of relevant legislation, mainly the Insurance Business Act (Cap. 403), the Insurance Distribution Act (Cap. 
487) and the Investment Services Act (Cap. 370) and any ad hoc specific notifcations by the regulator to the 
marked regulated entities.

The principal group undertakings at 31 December are shown below:  	 Capital and reserves	
 	 2018	 2017
 	 €	 €
 	 	   

Brammer Limited (in liquidation)	 (67,065)	 (66,967)
	 ==================	 ================

Central Landmark Development Limited	 (248,428)	 (244,237)
	 ==================	 ================
Global Estates Limited	 (9,363)	 (5,002)

	 ==================	 ================
Global Properties Limited (Međunarodne Nekretnine d.o.o.)	 125,822	 88,873

	 ==================	 ================
GlobalCapital Financial Management Limited	 (239,596)	 661,647

	 ==================	 ================
GlobalCapital Health Insurance Agency Limited	 1,045,866	 912,133

	 ==================	 ================
GlobalCapital Holdings Limited	 9,217,028	 9,934,961

	 ==================	 ================
GlobalCapital Life Insurance Limited	 28,886,617	 28,431,015

	 ==================	 ================
Quadrant Italia S.R.L.	 298,395	 (440,993)

	 ==================	 ================

 	 Profit / (loss)	
 	 2018	 2017
 	 €	 €
 	 	   

Brammer Limited (in liquidation)	 (99)	 -
	 ==================	 ================

Central Landmark Development Limited	 (4,192)	 (8,263)
	 ==================	 ================
Global Estates Limited	 (4,361)	 (4,051)

	 ==================	 ================
Global Properties Limited (Međunarodne Nekretnine d.o.o.)	 36,951	 37,242

	 ==================	 ================
GlobalCapital Financial Management Limited	 (923,054)	 (110,135)

	 ==================	 ================
GlobalCapital Health Insurance Agency Limited	 133,733	 519,781

	 ==================	 ================
GlobalCapital Holdings Limited	 (717,933)	 282,077

	 ==================	 ================
GlobalCapital Life Insurance Limited	 220,747	 3,237,119

	 ==================	 ================
Quadrant Italia S.R.L.	 739,390	 (172,972)

	 ================	 =============
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16.	 Other investments 

	 The Group’s and Company’s other investments are summarised by measurement category in the table below:
 	            Group	     Company 	
 	 2018	 2017	 2018	 2017
 	                                                     €	 €	 €	 €

Fair value through profit and loss 	 64,906,261	 67,099,248	 -	 -
Available-for-sale investments	 3,268,701	 2,128,561	 -	 -
Held-to-maturity investments	 -	 -	 -	 -
Loans and receivables	 5,060,600	 2,110,597	 -	 -
 	 ————————	 ————————	 ———————	 ———————
Total investments 	 73,235,562	 71,338,406	 -	 - 
 	 ==================	 ==================	 ================	 ================

	 Included in the Group total investments are €12,788,505 (2017: €9,839,062) of assets held to cover linked 
liabilities. These relate to collective investment schemes which are classified as investments at fair value 
through profit or loss as described in accounting policy number 13. Their expected recovery is back to back 
with the respective technical provision for linked liabilities which maturity table is disclosed in Note 2.

	
(a)	 Investments at fair value through profit or loss
 	 Group	 Company

 	 2018	 2017	 2018	 2017
 	 €	 €	 €	 €

Equity securities and collective
investments schemes:
- listed shares	 15,995,820	 17,356,281	 -	 -
- collective investment schemes	 13,129,751	 10,515,700	 -	 -
 	 -------------------------------	 -------------------------------	 -------------------------------	 -------------------------------
 	 29,125,571	 27,871,981	 -	 -
 	 -------------------------------	 -------------------------------	 -------------------------------	 -------------------------------

Debt securities
- listed	 35,780,690	 39,227,267	 -	 - 
 	 -------------------------------	 -------------------------------	 -------------------------------	 -------------------------------

Total investments at fair value
through profit or loss	 64,906,261	 67,099,248	 -	 - 
	 ===================	 ====================	 ===================	 ====================

Maturity of debt securities classified as fair value through profit or loss.

	 Group	 Company 
 	 2018	 2017	 2018	 2017
 	 €	 €	 €	 €

Within 1 year	       4,254,421	 1,064,297	 -	 - 
Between 1 and 2 years	 2,015,376	 778,763	 -	 - 
Between 2 and 5 years	 8,711,467	 12,951,759	 -	 - 
Over 5 years	 22,799,426	 24,432,448	 -	 - 
 	 —————————	 ————————	 ———————	 ————————
 	 37,780,690	 39,227,267	 -	 - 
 	 ====================	 ====================	 ================	 ================

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            
(a)	 Investments at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

 	 Group	 Company 
 	 2018	 2017	 2018	 2017
	  	   	 	  
Weighted average effective 
interest rate at the balance sheet date 	 5%	 5%	 -	 -

 	 ================	 ================	 ================	 ================

There were no Group investments which were pledged in favour of third parties at the financial year-end 
(2017: none).

The movements in investments classified at fair value through profit or loss are summarised as follows:

 	 Group	 Company
 	 2018	 2017	 2018	 2017
 	 €	 €	 €	 €
Year ended 31 December	 	 	 	    
At beginning of year 	 67,099,248	 50,427,792  	 -	  -
Additions	 11,850,149     	 27,048,966	 -	 -
Disposals (sale and redemption)	 (10,600,689)	 (8,566,482)	 -	 -
Transfer to AFS assets (Note 16 (c))	 -	 (605,505)	 -	 -
Net fair value loss	 (3,442,447)	 (1,205,523)	 -	 -
 	 —————————	 —————————	 ———————	 ———————
At end of year	 64,906,261	 67,099,248	 -	 -
 	 ====================	 =====================	 ================	 ================
 	 	 	 	    
At 31 December	 	 	 	    
Cost	 60,335,725	 59,298,265	 -	 -
Accumulated fair value gains	 4,570,536	 7,800,983	 -	 -
 	 —————	 —————	 —————	 —————
Carrying amount	 64,906,261	 67,099,248	 -	 -

 	 ================	 ================	 ================	 ================

The table below analyses debt securities classified at fair value through profit or loss by sector:

 	 Group	 Company
 	 2018	 2017	 2018	 2017
 	 €	 €	 €	 €

Banks	 3,959,567	 5,067,769	 -	   - 
Energy	 2,515,629	 2,726,396	 -	 - 
Government	 19,551,843	 21,135,089	 -	    - 
Other	 9,753,651	 10,298,012	 -	   - 
  	 —————————	 ————————	 ———————	 ———————

	  35,780,690	 39,227,267	 -	    - 
	 ====================	 ===================	 ================	 ================
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(b)	 Held-to-maturity investments

  	 2018	 2017
 	 €	 €
Debt securities – fixed interest rate	  	  
Government bonds	 -	 - 
Listed corporate bonds	 -	 - 
 	 ———————	 ———————
 	 -	 - 
 	 ================	 ================

	 Maturity of debt securities classified as held-to-maturity.

 	 2018	 2017
 	 €	 €
        

Within 1 year	 -	 - 
Between 1 and 2 years	 -	 - 
Between 2 and 5 years	 -	 - 
Over 5 years	 -	 - 

 	 ———————	 ———————
 	 -	 - 
 	 ================	 ================

  Weighted average effective interest rate 
at the balance sheet date 	 -	 - 

 	 ================	 ================

The movements in investments classified as held-to-maturity are summarised as follows:

 	 2018	 2017
 	 €	 €
Year ended 31 December	 	  
At beginning of year 	 -	 6,813,000
Maturities	 -	 (785,860)
Amortised cost	 -	 -
Disposal	 -	 (5,505,347)
Transfer to available-for-sale asset	 -	 (521,793)

 	 ———————	 ———————
At end of year	 -	 - 

 	 ================	 ================
 	  	 

At 31 December	 	  
Cost	 -	 - 
Accumulated amortisation	 -	 - 
 	 ———————	 ———————
Carrying amount	 -	 - 
 	 ================	 ================

(c)	 Available-for-sale investments
	 2018	 2017
	 €	 €

Equity securities and collective investments schemes:	 
- listed shares	 3,268,701	 2,128,561 
 	 ================	 ================

(c)	 Available-for-sale investments (continued)

The movements in investments classified as available-for-sale are summarised as follows:
 	

 	 2018	 2017
 	 €	 €
Year ended 31 December	 	  
At beginning of year 	 2,128,561	 983,723  
Transfer from held-to-maturity assets (i)	 -	 521,793
Transfer from fair value through profit or loss assets (Note 16 (a))	 -	 605,505
Additions	 1,736,280	 81,096
Disposals	 (365,621)	 (766) 
Net fair value loss	 (230,519)	 (62,790)
 	 ———————	 ———————
At end of year	 3,268,701	 2,128,561   
 	 ================	 ================
At 31 December	 	  
Cost	 3,237,344	 1,866,654 
Accumulated fair value gains	 31,357	 261,907 
 	 ———————	 ———————
Carrying amount	 3,268,701	 2,128,561 
 	 ================	 ================

(i) During 2017, the Group sold a substantial amount of its investments that were classified as held-to-
maturity.  Such sale was effected in view of the favourable conditions that the market was offering on such 
investments.  Following sale, and in line with the requirements of IAS 39, the remaining financial assets 
classified as held-to-maturity were subsequently reclassified as available-for-sale investments, measured 
at fair value and any movement in fair value recognised and presented in other comprehensive income.

(ii) The ultimate majority shareholder of the GlobalCapital Life Insurance Limited was appointed as a 
director post-acquisition of one of the investments classified as available-for-sale, with a carrying amount 
as at year end of €2,249,841. This investment is in a start-up fintech company and given the embryonic 
stage of the company and of the industry itself, the Directors believe that the variability in the range of 
the reasonable fair value measurement is significant and the probabilities of the various estimates cannot 
be reasonably assessed. In view of this, the Group has not measured this investment at fair value and is 
carrying amount is equivalent to price paid at settlement date to acquire this instrument.
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 (d)	 Loans and receivables

 	 Group	 Company
 	 2018	 2017	 2018	 2017
 	 €	 €	 €	 €

Loans to group undertakings 	 -	 -	 -	 - 
Loans secured on policies	 110,747	 110,597	 -	 - 
Other loans and receivables	 4,040,853	 2,000,000	 -	 - 

 	 ————————	 —————	 ———————	 ———————
 	 4,151,600	 2,110,597	 -	 - 
 	 =================	 ================	 ================	 ================

 	 Group	 Company
 	 2018	 2017	 2018	 2017

 	 €	 €	 €	 €
Year ended 31 December		 	    	 	  
At beginning of year 	 2,110,597	 138,884	 -	 - 
Additions	 3,060,150	 2,000,000	 -	 - 
Amortisation of premium	 (60,000)	 -	 -	 - 
Disposals	 (50,147)	 (28,287)	 -	     - 
 	 ————————	 ———————	 ———————	 ———————
At end of year	 5,060,600	 2,110,597	 -	 - 
 	 ==================	 ================	 ================	 ================

Group
Loans secured on policies are substantially non-current in nature. They are charged interest at the rate 
of 8% (2017:  8%) per annum.  Other loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed 
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market, other than those that the Group 
intends to sell in the short term.

  

17.	 Technical provisions – insurance contracts and investment contracts 

	 2018	 2017
 	 €	 €
 		
Insurance contracts	 61,725,773	 57,429,114 
Investment contracts with DPF		  24,976,684	 22,171,930 
 	 —————————	 ————————
 	 86,702,457	 79,601,044 
 	 ===================	 =================
 	  	  
Investment contracts without DPF	 12,788,505	 9,839,062 
 	 —————————	 ————————
Total technical provisions 	 99,490,962	 89,440,106 
 	 ====================	 ==================

Insurance contracts are further analysed as follows:

 	 2018	 2017
 	 €	 €
Gross technical provisions - insurance contracts	 	  
 Short term insurance contracts	  
  claims outstanding	 107,786	 243,944
  other provisions	 210,991	 253,384
Long term insurance contracts	 
  claims outstanding	 927,736	 694,153
  long term business provision	 60,479,260	 56,237,633
 	 —————————	 ————————
 	 61,725,773	 57,429,114
 	 ====================	 ==================
Reinsurers’ share of technical provisions - insurance contracts	 	  
Short term insurance contracts	  	 
  claims outstanding	 (65,328)	 (170,761)
  other provisions	 (119,715)	 (137,776)
Long term insurance contracts	 
  claims outstanding	 (201,386)	 (356,264)
  long term business provision	 (12,972,792)	 (9,027,715)
 	 —————————	 ————————
 	 (13,359,221)	 (9,692,516)
 	 ====================	 =================
Net technical provisions - insurance contracts	 	  
Short term insurance contracts	  	 
  claims outstanding	 42,458	 73,183
  other provisions	 91,276	 115,608
Long term insurance contracts	 
  claims outstanding	 726,350	 337,889
  long term business provision	 47,506,468	 47,209,918
 	 —————————	 ————————
 	 48,366,552	 47,736,598
 	 ====================	 ================== 	
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The movements in technical provisions relating to insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF net 
of reinsurance are analysed below:

 	  	 Investment		  
 	 Insurance	 contracts		  
 	 contracts	 with DPF		  Total
 	 €	 €		  €
Year ended 31 December 2018	 	 	 	    
At beginning of year	 47,736,598 	 22,171,930		  69,908,528 
Charged to technical account	
-change in the provision for claims	 357,736	 (207,562)		  150,174
-change in other technical provisions	 272,218	 3,012,316		  3,284,534
 	 —————————	 ——————————		  —————————
At end of year	 48,366,552	 24,976,684		  73,343,236
 	 =====================	 =====================		  ===================
Year ended 31 December 2017	 	 	 	    
At beginning of year	 47,651,614	 17,963,823		  65,615,437  
Charged to technical account	
-change in the provision for claims	 173,286	 95,483		  268,769
-change in other technical provisions	 (88,302)	 4,112,624		  4,024,322
 	 ————————	 ————————		  ————————
At end of year	 47,736,598	 22,171,930		  69,908,528
 	 ===================	 ===================		  ==================

         Claims outstanding are further analysed as follows:
	 2018	 2017
 	 €	 €

Claim outstanding	 	  
Short term insurance contracts		  107,786	 243,944
Long term insurance contracts		  927,736	 694,153
Investment contracts with DPF		  287,606	 495,168
 	 ————————	 ————————
 	 1,323,128	 1,433,265
 	 ===================	 ================

Claims outstanding are expected to be settled within 12 months from the balance sheet date and therefore are 
current in nature.

Long term contracts – assumptions, changes in assumptions and sensitivity

(a)	 Assumptions

For long term contracts, estimates are determined by reference to expected future deaths, investment return 
and policy maintenance expenses. Mortality estimates are based on standard mortality tables that reflect 
recent historical mortality experience, adjusted where appropriate to reflect the Company’s own experience. 
A weighted average rate of investment return is applied in accordance with the Insurance Business (Insurers’ 
Assets and Liabilities) Regulations, 2007, reflecting current investment yields, adjusted by a margin of 
contingency. Allowance is made for policy maintenance expenses at a rate determined by reference to the 
insurance Company’s cost base. The calculation assumes the continuation of existing tax legislation and rates.

(b)	 Changes in assumptions

During the year, there were no changes in mortality assumptions for interest sensitive or unit linked business; 
however there was a slight reduction in mortality rates of permanent term assurances by 10% (2017: 5%) to be 
more in line with the reinsurance rates.

Sensitivity analysis

The following table presents the sensitivity of the value of liabilities variable that will trigger an adjustment 
and the liability disclosed in this note to movements in the assumptions used in the estimation of liabilities for 
long term contacts. The table below indicates the level of the respective adjustment that would be required.

	 Increase in liability
 	 2018	 2017
 	 €	 €

10% loading applied to mortality assumptions - gross	 4,127,031	 3,137,242
10% loading applied to mortality assumptions - net	 931,742	 706,677
Lowering of investment return by 25 basis points	 648,829	 447,813
 	 ==============	 ==============

The above analysis is based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In 
practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated.  

18.	 Trade and other receivables
 	 Group	 	  Company
 	 2018	 2017		  2018	 2017
 	 €	 €	 €	 €

Trade receivables - third parties 	 805,262	 840,171	 -	 - 

Other loans and recievables:
 Receivables from other related parties	 53,365	 21,678	 923,325	 417,314
 Prepayments	 649,270	 856,433	 1,410	 5,034 
 Accrued investment income 	 976,903	 720,980	 -	  -  
 Other receivables	 668,557	 152,510	 217,973	 32,756
 	 ———————	 ———————	 ———————	 ———————
 	 3,153,357	 2,591,772	 1,142,708	 455,104 
 	 ================	 ================	 ================	 ================

	 No trade receivables were written off as bad debts in 2018 (2017: Nil).

	As at 31 December 2018, trade receivables amounting to €393,872 (2017: €327,569) were fully performing and 
trade receivables amounting to €411,390 (2017: €512,602) were past due but not impaired. These dues related 
to a number of independent parties for whom there is no recent history of default. The ageing analysis of the 
trade receivables that are past due but not impaired is as follows:	
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 	 2018	 2017
 	 €	 €

Between 3 to 6 months 	 4,613	 31,493
More than 6 months 	 406,777	 481,109
 	 ———————	 ———————
 	 411,390	 512,602
 	 ================	 ================

There are no other material past due amounts in trade and other receivables.

Amounts owed by related parties are unsecured and interest-free. These balances are payable on demand.

Interest-bearing automatic premium loans are classified as loans and receivables in Note 16 to the financial 
statements. 

All of the above amounts are current in nature.

19.	 Share capital

	 Company
	                                                                                                                                                     2018                        2017
	 €	 €

Authorised		
200,000,000 ordinary shares of €0.291172 each
(2017: 200,000,000 ordinary shares of €0.291172 each)	 58,234,400	 58,234,400
	 ====================	 ====================

Issued and fully paid 		
30,000,000 Ordinary shares of €0.291172 each
(2017: 30,000,000 ordinary shares of €0.291172 each)	 8,735,160	 8,735,160
	 ====================	 ====================

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, and to maintain an 
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the 
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares or additional debt or sell 
assets to reduce debt.

The Directors consider that capital management is of particular relevance in the areas of the Group that 
are subject to regulatory supervision. GlobalCapital Life Insurance Limited, which is authorised by the Malta 
Financial Services Authority to carry out long term business of insurance, is required to hold regulatory capital 
to support its long term insurance business as determined in accordance with the Insurance Business (Assets 
and Liabilities) Regulations. The capital of GlobalCapital Financial Management Limited is regulated by rules 
issued under the Investment Services Act and by the Financial Institutions Act. The capital of GlobalCapital 
Health Insurance Agency Limited is regulated by rules issued under the Insurance Distribution Act. 

The above regulations set out the required minimum capital that must be maintained at all times throughout the 
year. Each company monitors capital on a regular basis through detailed reports compiled with management 
accounts. Such reports are circulated to senior management. Any transactions that may potentially affect a 
company’s regulatory position are immediately reported to the Directors for resolution prior to notifying the 
Malta Financial Services Authority.

At both year-ends, GlobalCapital Health Insurance Agency Limited satisfied the own funds requirements. 

Based on the unaudited quarterly solvency returns submitted to the regulator, GlobalCapital Life Insurance 
Limited is sufficiently capitalised and was compliant at all times in line with the Solvency II requirements.  

GlobalCapital Financial Management Limited satisfied minimum prudential capital requirements in 2017. 
During 2018, GlobalCapital Financial Management breached the minimum prudential capital requirements that 
should be equal to or in excess of its capital resources requirement of minimum €125,000. On 12 April 2019, the 
Directors have resolved to increase the issued share capital of the Company through the capitalisation of an 
amount due to the intermediate parent company, which as at 31 December 2018 amounted to €375,097. Such 
amount will also contribute to the maintenance of own fund balance at the level which should be equal to or 
in excess of the minimum prudential capital requirements.

Non-regulated entities are financed by items presented within equity in the statement of financial position and 
long-term borrowings.

During 2016 the Group also raised capital through the issue for subscription to the general public of €10,000,000 
unsecured bonds, carrying a rate of interest of 5% per annum (Note 22). Such issue was raised for the purpose 
of redeeming the previous unsecured bonds which were issued in 2006 and carried a rate of interest of 5.6% 
per annum. The conditions outlined in the offering document to the issue contain restrictions as to the amount 
of secured borrowing which can be entered into by the Group. Management monitors such requirement on a 
regular basis, at least once a month, to ensure ongoing compliance with these requirements. As at the date of 
this report, according to management’s best estimates, the Group had surplus net assets over the maximum 
permitted secured borrowing limit of €27,211,776 (2017: €23,841,593). Management are continuously monitoring 
this position to ensure that the bond covenant requirements are complied with. 

20.	 Share premium account

During the Company’s Extraordinary General Meeting held on 23 June 2017, it was duly resolved and approved 
by the shareholders that accumulated losses of €16,970,641 from the total accumulated losses of the Company 
amounting to €30,417,321 as at 31 December 2017 be offset against the amount of €16,970,641 standing to the 
credit of the Company’s share premium account as at the said date, and that accordingly the share premium 
account of the Company be reduced by the amount of €16,970,641.  
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21.	 Other reserves
	 Value of 	 Other 	 Property	 Investment	 	  
	 in-force	 unrealised 	 revaluation	 compensation	 	  
	 business	 gains	 reserve	 scheme	       Total
	 €	 €	 €	 €	  €
Year ended 
31 December 2018	 	 	 	 	 	      
At beginning of year 	 7,129,212	 170,240	 1,062,461	 8,162	   8,370,075
 	
Increase in value 
 in-force business,	
 transferred from 
 profit and 
 loss account	 1,468,461  	 -	 -	 -	      1,468,461 
Net loss on 
 available-for-sale 
 financial assets 	 -	 (230,519)	 -	 -	     (230,519)
Deferred tax movement 
 on available-
 for-sale	
 financial assets	 -	 80,681	 -	 -	         80,681
 	 ———----——	 ---—————	 ---—————	   --——————	   ----—————  
At end of year	 8,597,673	 20,402	 1,062,461	                         8,162        9,688,698
 	 ================	 ================	 ================	 ================	   ================ 
Year ended 
31 December 2017	 	 	 	 	 	      
At beginning of year 	 5,867,425	 211,053	 1,062,461	 8,162	             7,149,101
 	
Increase in value 
 in-force business,	
 transferred from 
 profit and 
 loss account	 1,261,787	 -  	  -	  -	      1,261,787
Net loss on available-for-sale 
 financial assets 	 -	 (62,790)	 -	 -	      (62,790)
Deferred tax movement 
 on available-
 for-sale	
 financial assets	 -	 21,977	 -	 -	          21,977
 	 ——----——	 ---—————	 ---—————	   --—————	   ----—————  
At end of year	 7,129,212	 170,240	 1,062,461	 8,162	   8,370,075
 	 ================	 ================	 ================	 ================	    ================

The above reserves are not distributable.

The value of in-force business represents the shareholders’ value of the active portfolio of the insurance business 
as at year-end. 

The other unrealised gains represents the difference between the fair value of the investments classified as 
available-for-sale assets and the amortised cost.

The property revaluation reserve represents the difference between the carrying amount of the property and its 
fair value at the date when the Directors has reassessed its used from an owner-occupied one to an property held 
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation.

The Investor Compensation scheme reserve represents to the required amount to be kept by the Group in relation 
to the Investor Compensation scheme regulations, 2013. Funds in this reserve were deposited in an interest-bearing 
bank account.

22.	 Interest-bearing borrowings

	 	 Group		  Company
 	 2018	 2017	 2018	 2017
 	 €	 €	 €	 €

5% bonds 2021	 9,844,261	 9,779,958	 9,844,261	 9,779,958
Loan from shareholder	 513,315	 -	 513,315	 -
 	 ————————	 ———————	 ————————	 ———————
Total borrowings 	 10,357,576	 9,779,958	 10,357,576	 9,779,958 	
	 ==================	 ================	 ==================	 ================
 	
During 2016, by virtue of the offering memorandum dated 12 May 2016, the Company issued for subscription to 
the general public €10,000,000 bonds. The bonds are unsecured and were effectively issued on 8 June 2016 
at the bond offer price of €100 per bond.

The bonds are subject to a fixed interest rate of 5.0% per annum payable yearly on 2 June.

All bonds are redeemable at par and at the latest are due on 2 June 2021.

The bonds were admitted to the official list of the Malta Stock Exchange. The quoted market price of the bonds 
at 31 December 2018 was €98.95 (2017: €99.40).

The bond is disclosed at the value of the proceeds less the net book amount of the issue costs as follows:

	 Group and Company
 	 2018	 2017
 	 €	 €
Proceeds
€10,000,000, 5% bonds 2021 	 10,000,000	 10,000,000
	 ======================	 ====================
Less:
Issue cost	 321,519	 321,519
Accumulated amortisation 	 (165,780)	 (101,477)
 	 —————————	 ———————
	 155,739	 220,042
 	 —————————	 ———————
	 9,844,261	 9,779,958
 	 =====================	 ================

Restrictions with regards to the bond issue as to the amount of secured borrowing which can be entered into 
by the Group are disclosed in Note 19.

During the year under review, the Company entered into an agreement with its majority shareholder, Investar 
p.l.c., whereby the latter has provided a loan totalling €500,000. Such loan bears an interest of 5% per annum. 
As at year end the maturity was June 2019, however after year end the maturity of such amount was extended 
to May 2020.
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23.	 Trade and other payables
 	
	 Group	 Company
 	 2018	 2017	 2018	 2017
 	 €	 €	 €	 €

Trade payables	 4,555,283	 3,061,863	 854,354	 805,241
Amounts due to group undertakings	 -	 -	 2,672,356	 1,673,294	
Accruals and deferred income	 411,542	 503,136	 85,061	 113,478	
Accrued interest on 5% bonds payable	 290,411	 290,411	 290,411	 290,411	
Other payables	 1,393,564	 3,134,248	 128,293	 196,952	
 	 ————————	 ————————	 ————————	 ———————
 	 6,650,800	 6,989,658	 4,030,475	 3,079,376	
 	 ==================	 ========—=======	 =================	 ================

	  
All of the above amounts are payable within one year.

	 Amounts owed to group undertakings are unsecured and do not bear interest. These balances are payable on 
demand.

	 Trade and other payables include outstanding court and arbitration cases against the Company. The provision 
as at the end of the reporting period amounts to EUR1,068,609 (2017:  EUR941,680), which are shown net of 
amounts deposited at the Courts amounting to EUR338,997 (2017: EUR338,997).

24.	 Cash used in operations 

Reconciliation of operating loss to cash used in operations:
	
	 Group	 Company
	 2018	 2017	 2018	 2017
	 €	 €	 €	 €

Cash flows generated from/(used in)	 	 	 	    
operating activities	  	  	 	  
Profit/(loss) before tax	 1,168,191	 4,644,195	 (868,003)	 (929,893)
Adjustments for:	 	 	   
 Net gain/(loss) on investments	 1,746,753	 (894,787)	 -	 -
 Increment in value in-force business	 (2,259,171)  	 (1,941,211)	 -	 -
 Amortisation of intangible asset	 148,393	 145,843	 -	 588 
 Depreciation	 88,480	 86,026	 3,284	 2,366 
 Amortisation of bond issue costs	 64,128	 64,128	 64,128	 64,128
 Net movement in technical provisions	 6,384,151	 7,218,496	 -	 -
 Dividend income	 (486,270)	 (322,881)	 -	 -
 Interest income	 (2,033,172)	 (1,939,307)	 -	 -
 Interest expense	 495,000	 493,151	 508,315	 493,151 
 	 ———————	 ———————	 ———————	 ———————
Operating profit/(loss) before working capital 
movements	 5,316,481	 7,553,653	 (292,276)	 (369,660)
Movement in trade and other receivables	 (561,585)	 569,069	 (687,604)	 (10,383)
Movement in trade and other payables	 (325,368)	 1,016,730	 951,274	 719,385 
 	 ———————	 ———————	 ———————	 ———————
Nat cash flow generated from/ (used in)	 	 	   
operating activities	 4,429,530	 9,139,452	 (28,606)	 339,342
 	 ==================	 ================	 ================	 ================

25.	 Cash and cash equivalents

	 For the purposes of the statements of cash flows, the year-end cash and cash equivalents comprise the 
following: 

	 Group	 Company
 	 2018	 2017	 2018	 2017
 	 €	 €	 €	 €

Cash at bank and in hand	 11,029,822	 10,250,424	 281,105	 309,297 
 	 ==================	 ====================	 =================	 ================

Cash at bank earns interest on current deposits at floating rates.
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26.	 Fair values

The following table presents the assets measured in the statements of financial position at fair value by level of 
the following fair value measurement hierarchy at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017:

•	 Quoted prices(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1)
•	 Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liabilities, 

either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices (Level 2)
•	 Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable 

inputs (Level 3)

Group
                  		  Fair value measurement at end of the

                                                                                              reporting period using:
 		  Level 1	 Level 2	 Level 3	 Total	
 		  €	 €	 €	 €	
2018	  	 	 	 	 	     
Other Investments:
Financial assets at fair value 		
through profit or loss 		  52,749,231	 12,157,030	 -	 64,906,261
Available-for-sale investments		  3,268,701	 -	 -	 3,268,701

 		  —————————	 ————————	 ———————	  —————————
Total		  56,017,932	 12,157,030	 -	 68,174,962
 		  ====================	 ==================	 ================ 	 =   ===================
 	  	  	 	 	 	    
Financial liabilities at 
amortised cost	 	 	 	 	 	      
- Other payables		  -	 1,393,564	 -	 1,393,564
- Amounts due to shareholders		  -	 513,315	 -	 513,315
- 5% bonds 2021		  -	 10,000,000  	  -	 10,000,000
Unit linked financial instruments		  -	 12,788,505	 -	 12,788,505

 		  —————————	 ————————	 ———————	  —————————
Total		  -	 24,695,384	 -	       24,695,384	
 		  ====================	 ====================	 ================ 	 =   ===================
	
2017	  	 	 	 	 	     
Other Investments:
Financial assets at fair value 		
through profit or loss 		  57,800,052	 9,299,196	 -	 67,099,248
Available-for-sale investments		  2,128,561	 -	 -	 2,128,561

 		  —————————	 ————————	 ———————	  —————————
Total		  59,928,613	 9,299,196	 -	 69,227,809
 		  ====================	 ====================	 ================ 	 =   ===================
 	 	 	   
Financial liabilities at 
amortised cost	 	 	 	 	 	      
- Other payables		  -	 2,769,753	 -	 2,769,753
- 5% bonds 2021		  -	 10,000,000  	  -	 10,000,000
Unit linked financial instruments		  -	 9,839,062	 -	 9,839,062

 		  —————————	 ————————	 ———————	  —————————
Total	 -	 22,608,815	 -	 22,608,815
 		  ====================	 ====================	 ================ 	 =   ===================

Company
		               Fair value measurement at end of the
	             reporting period using:
 		  Level 1	 Level 2	 Level 3	 Total		
	 €	 €	 €	 €
2018	  	 	 	 	 	     
	 	 	 	    
Financial liabilities at
 amortised cost	 	 	 	 	 	      
- Amounts due to 
group undertakings		  -	 2,667,546	 -	 2,667,546
- Amounts due to shareholders		  -	 513,315	 -	 513,315
- 5% bonds 2021		   -	 10,000,000	 -	 10,000,000

 		  ————————	 ————————	 ———————	  —————————
Total		  -	 13,180,861	 -	 13,180,861
 		  ====================	 ====================	 ================ 	 =   ===================
2017	 	 	 	    

Financial liabilities at
 amortised cost	 	 	 	 	 	      
- Amounts due to 
group undertakings		  -	 1,673,294	 -	 1,673,294
- 5% bonds 2021		  -	 10,000,000  	  -	 10,000,000  

 		  ————————	 —————————	 ———————	  —————————
Total		  -	 11,673,294	 -	 11,673,294
 		  ====================	 ====================	 ================ 	 =   ===================

At 31 December 2018 and 2017 the carrying amounts of financial assets and current financial liabilities 
approximated their fair values except for investment contracts with DPF, and certain equity financial instruments 
classified as available-for-sale which is measured at cost amounting to €2,249,841. It is impracticable to 
determine the fair value of equity investment and the investment contracts with DPF due to the lack of a 
reliable basis to measure the future discretionary return that is a material feature of these contracts.

The fair value of the bonds issued by the Company, carried at amortised cost, is disclosed in  
Note 22.

Fair value measurements classified as Level 1 include listed equities, debt securities, units in unit trusts and 
collective investments schemes.

The financial liabilities for unit linked contracts were classified as Level 2. The fair value of these contracts is 
determined using the current unit value that reflect the fair values of the financial assets (classified as Level 2) 
linked to the financial liability. 
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27.	 Related party transactions

Group

Transactions during the year with other related parties were as follows:

	 2018	 2017
	 €	 €

Loan from shareholder	 513,315	 - 
Commission receivable from related parties	 -	 111,343 
Fees receivable in respect of advice provided to 
related funds (see note below)	 60,528	 69,226
	 ==============	 ==============

GlobalCapital Financial Management Limited, a group undertaking, acts as Investment Advisor and Fund 
Manager to Global Funds SICAV p.l.c. The advisory fees earned by this group undertaking from its activity as 
Investment Advisor and Fund Manager are included in turnover, and during the year amounted to €60,528 
(2017:  €69,226). Global Funds SICAV p.l.c. is considered to be a related party by way of key management.

Interest receivable and payable from and to related parties is disclosed in Note 6. Amounts owed by or to related 
parties are disclosed in Notes 18 and 23 to these financial statements. No impairment loss has been recognised 
in 2018 and 2017 in respect of receivables from related parties. The terms and conditions of the related party 
balances do not specify the nature of the consideration to be provided in settlement. No guarantees have been 
given or received in relation to these balances.

Key management personnel during 2018 and 2017 comprised of the Board of Directors and the Chief Executive 
Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Chief Technical Officer and Managing Directors of the 
Group. Total remuneration paid by the Group to its key management personnel amounted to €743,909 (2017: 
€563,723)

Also, the Group purchased during 2018 €1,230,100 in an investment where the ultimate majority shareholder 
of GlobalCapital plc subsequently became a director in such investment to assist in safeguarding the Group’s 
investments.

The following financial assets were held by the Group in related entities as at 31 December:
 	
 	 2018	 2017
 	 €	 €
 	  	  
Malta Privatisation and Equity Fund 	 464,940	 464,940 
Melita International Equity Fund 	 63,942	 63,942 
Global Bond Fund Plus Accumulator	 157,345	 157,345 
 	 ——————	 ——————
 	 686,227	 686,227 
 	 ==============	 ==============

As at 31 December, the above investments were represented by the following holdings held by the Group 
directly in each fund:

	 2018	 2017
	 %	 %
	 	
Global Bond Fund Plus	 13	 13
Malta Privatisation & Equity Fund 	 19	 19
Melita International Equity Fund 	 19	 19
 	 =========	 =========

The above disclosures do not include investments in related collective investment schemes held to cover 
linked liabilities. 

In addition the Group held the following holdings in each fund in a nominee capacity:

	 2018	 2017
	 %	 %
	 	
Global Bond Fund Plus	 21	 21
Malta Privatisation & Equity Fund 	 14	 14
Melita International Equity Fund 	 22	 22
 	 =========	 =========

As at the end of the reporting date, there were no bonds held by other related parties (2017: nil). The 
compensation to Directors in 2018 and 2017 is disclosed in Note 8 to the financial statements.

Company

All companies forming part of the GlobalCapital Group are considered by the Directors to be related parties as 
these companies are also ultimately owned by GlobalCapital p.l.c. Related parties that do not form part of the 
consolidated group include entities related by way of common Directors and ultimate shareholders.

Dividends and interest receivable from group undertakings are disclosed in Note 6.  Amounts owed by or 
to group undertakings and related parties are disclosed in Notes 16, 18 and 23. The terms and conditions of 
the related party balances do not specify the nature of the consideration to be provided in settlement. No 
guarantees have been given or received in relation to these balances. Impairment loss in respect of loans to 
group undertakings is disclosed in Notes 16 and 18. 

At year end, the directors considered the ultimate controlling party to be Paolo Catalfamo who owns 99.99% 
of the issued share capital of Investar p.l.c., which is the single major shareholder of the Company. 
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28.	 Commitments  

Operating lease commitments - where the Group is a lessee

Future minimum lease payments due by the Group under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

 	 2018	 2017
 		  €	 €

Not later than one year 	 99,697	 99,697
Later than one year and not later than five years 	 279,697	 279,697
	 ———————	 ———————
 	 379,394	 379,394
 	 ================	 ================

Rent is payable on the basis of the contract terms signed between lessor and lessee as disclosed above. The 
Group has the right of first refusal if it wishes to extend the lease further but terms need to be negotiated with 
the lessor. The agreement restricts subleasing the said property to a third party.

Operating lease commitments - where the Group is a lessor

Future minimum lease payments due to the Group under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

 	 2018	 2017
 	 €	 €

Not later than one year 	 524,908	 579,870
Later than one year and not later than five years 	 681,846	 1,206,754
 	 ————————	 ———————
 	 1,206,754	 1,786,624
 	 ==================	 ================

Operating leases relate to the investment properties owned by the Group with lease terms of up to 5 years. The 
lessees do not have an option to purchase the properties at the expiry of the lease period.

29.	 Contingent liabilities

	 In addition to the court cases made against subsidiaries of the Group (refer to Note 4), the Board considered 
other complaints received in respect of past actions by the Group to determine whether there could be a 
possible obligation. The directors estimate that the cash outflow from the possible obligation which may 
transpire in due course from such complaints amounts to €45,715 (2017:  €59,900).

30.	 Comparative figures

	 A reclassification of €535,987 has been recorded in the 2017 comparative figures from current tax charge to 
deferred tax charge in the Statement of comprehensive Income to align the tax charge to the amount as per 
the submitted tax return to the commission of inland revenue. Such reclassification did not impact the figures 
on the face of the Statement of Comprehensive Income, but only the figures in Note 7 and Note 12. With respect 
to the Statement of Financial Position, in relation to the aforementioned a reclassification has been affected in 
2017 comparative figures with the taxation receivable increasing from €52,118 to €588,405 with a corresponding 
increase in the provision for other risk – deferred tax, in Note12, from €2,166,695 to €2,702,682.

31.	 Statutory information

	 GlobalCapital p.l.c. is a limited liability company incorporated in Malta with registration number C19526. The 
registered address of the company is Testaferrata Street, Ta’ Xbiex. 

	 Consolidated financial statements prepared by GlobalCapital p.l.c. may be obtained from the Company’s 
registered office.

32. 	 Subsequent event

	 On 12 April 2019, the Directors of GlobalCapital Financial Management have resolved to increase the issued 
share capital of the GlobalCapital Financial Management through the capitalisation of an amount due to the 
intermediate parent company of GlobalCapital Financial Management, which as at 31 December 2018 amounted 
to €375,094. This capitalisation will contribute to maintenance of own funds balance at the level which should 
be equal to or in excess of its capital resources requirement of minimum €125,000.

	 There were no other events incurred after the reporting period which would require adjustment or disclosure 
in the financial statements of the Group.
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Statement of comprehensive income
Group Group Group Group Group
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

€ € € € €

Commission and fees receivable  2,323,009  2,472,496  2,704,144  2,568,299 2,724,420 

Gross premiums written  12,017,964  12,560,345  10,728,328  9,346,664  8,219,126 

Profit before tax  1,168,191  4,644,195  2,779,714  5,606,505  811,151 
Tax expense  (785,387)  (1,474,812)  (926,557)  (1,481,762)  (588,480)

Profit for the financial year  382,804  3,169,383  1,853,157  4,124,743  222,671 

Statement of financial position
Group Group Group Group Group
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

€ € € € €
ASSETS
Intangible assets  11,580,033  10,197,821  8,854,111  7,162,730  6,233,654 
Property, plant and equipment  2,059,473  2,126,712  2,050,253  2,449,842  2,709,197 
Investment property  22,569,692  20,855,955  18,664,160  15,237,008  20,395,208 
Investments  73,235,562  71,338,406  58,363,399  55,580,847  51,937,471 
Property held for development  -  -  -  -  679,930 

109,444,760  104,518,894  87,931,923  80,430,427  81,955,460 
Other non current assets  14,197,944  10,106,008  7,740,626  12,608,714  2,978,707 
Current assets  14,183,179  12,842,196  17,470,707  7,995,795  4,562,214 

Total assets  137,825,883  127,467,098  113,143,256 101,034,936  89,496,381 

EQUITY & LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves  18,481,328  18,248,362  15,119,792  7,360,089  3,162,547 
Provisions for liabilities and charges  99,490,962  89,440,106  80,183,066  71,509,880  66,065,326 
Interest-bearing borrowings  10,357,576  9,779,958  9,715,830  13,801,023  14,027,626 
Other liabilities  9,496,017  9,998,672  8,124,568  8,363,944  6,240,882 

Total equity and liabilities  137,825,883  127,467,098  113,143,256  01,034,936  89,496,381  

Five Year Summary Accounting Ratios		

					     Group		  Group		  Group		  Group	            Group
					     2018		  2017		  2016		  2015	            2014
					     €		  €		  €		  €	            €
									       
Commission, fees receivable and 
gross premium written to total assets	 10%		  12%		  12%		  11%	            12%
		
							     
Net operating expenses to total assets	 2%		  2%		  3%		  3%	            4%
		
							     
Net profit to commission, fees receivable 
and gross premium written		  3%		  21%		  14%		  37%	            2%
		
							     
Profit before tax to commission, fees  
receivable and gross premium written	 8%		  31%		  21%		  51%	            8%
		
							     
Pre-tax return on capital employed		 6%		  25%		  18%		  76%	            26%
		
						    
Shares in issue at year end	  	 30,000,000 	 30,000,000 	 30,000,000 	 13,207,548         13,207,548 
		
										        
Weighted number of shares in 
issue during the year	  		  30,000,000 	 30,000,000 	 26,203,907 	 13,207,548         13,207,548 

							     
Net assets per share (cents)	  	 61.6 		   60.8 		   57.7 		   55.7                    23.9 

Earnings per share (cents)	 		  1.3 		  10.6 		   7.1 		   31.2 	             1.7
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Share Register Information

	 	 Number of Shares	 Number of Shares
		  31 December 2018	 7 May 2019
Total Shares in issue		  30,000,000	 30,000,000

Directors’ direct interest in issued  
share capital of the Company

		  Number of Shares	 Number of Shares	
	
	 31 December 2018		  7 May 2019

		  N/A 	 N/A
Prof Paolo Catalfamo has indirect shareholding in the Company’s share capital through his shareholding in Investar plc.

Shareholders holding 5% or more of the equity

		  Number of Shares	 % Holding
		  31 December 2018	 31 December 2018

Investar plc		  15,781,465	 52.60%
BAI Co. (Mtius) Ltd		  6,399,092	 21.33%
Rizzo Farrugia & Co (Stockbrokers) Ltd – clients’ accounts		  2,918,885	 9.73%

		  Number of Shares	 % Holding
	             7 May 2019		  7 May 2019

Investar plc		  15,781,465	 52.60%
BAI Co. (Mtius) Ltd		  6,399,092	 21.33%
Rizzo Farrugia & Co (Stockbrokers) Ltd – clients’ accounts		  2,917,885	 9.73%

	 Number of Shareholders	    Number of Shareholders
	 31 December 2018	 7 May 2019

One class of shares carrying equal voting rights	 1433	 1425

Distribution of Shareholding

	 Number of shareholders	 Shares
	 31 December 2018	 31 December 2018
Range :
1 – 1,000	 1204	 383,068
1,001 – 5,000	 182	 361,023
5,001 and over	 47	 29,255,909

	 Number of shareholders	 Shares
	 7 May 2019	 7 May 2019
Range :
1 – 1,000	 1204	 382,891
1,001 – 5,000	 175	 344,526
5,001 and over	 46	 29,272,583






